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ABOUT BLACKBOARD INC.

Blackboard Inc. (NASDAQ: BBBB) is a leading provider of enterprise 

software applications and related services to the education industry.

Founded in 1997, Blackboard enables educational innovations everywhere 

by connecting people and technology. With two product suites, the 

Blackboard Academic Suite™ and the Blackboard Commerce Suite™, 

Blackboard is used by millions of people at academic institutions around 

the globe, including colleges, universities, K–12 schools and other 

education providers, as well as textbook publishers and student-focused 

merchants that serve education providers and their students. Blackboard 

is headquartered in Washington, D.C., with offices in North America, 

Europe and Asia.

VISION

Our role is to improve the educational experience with Internet-enabled 

technology that connects students, faculty, researchers and the community 

in a growing network of education environments dedicated to better 

communication, commerce, collaboration and content. 

  Networked Learning Environment: We recognize that teaching 

and learning should occur beyond the classroom and we build products 

in support of anytime, anywhere learning.

  Networked Transaction Environment: We also recognize that any 

member of the university community can use just one card to enable 

on- and off-campus commerce transactions, activities, facilities access, 

and web services.

Blackboard’s large and diverse community of practice supports, enhances 

and extends our offerings every day, throughout the world. The Internet 

offers great potential for education and the educational experience. 

While our role as the platform is important, communities of practice 

make the best solutions. The value of the network is connectedness. 

The contributions of each Blackboard client makes our community more 

valuable to every other Blackboard client.

MISSION

To enable educational innovations everywhere 
by connecting people and technology.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

($ in millions)

FY Ending Dec. 31, 2003 2004 2005

Revenue
 Products $ 83.3 $ 98.6 $ 120.4
 Professional Services 9.2 12.8 15.3

Total Revenue 92.5 111.4 135.7
Operating Expenses
 Cost of Product Revenues $ 23.1 $ 25.9 $ 29.6
  Cost of Professional Services Revenues 6.6 8.0 10.2
 Research and Development 11.4 13.7 13.9
 Sales and Marketing 30.9 35.2 37.9
 General and Administrative 14.7 14.9 19.2
  Amortization of Intangibles Resulting from Acquisitions 5.8 3.5 0.3
 Stock-Based Compensation 0.3 0.2 0.1

Total Operating Expenses $ 92.8 $ 101.4 $ 111.2
(Loss) Income from Operations $ (0.3) $ 10.0 $ 24.4
Net (Loss) Income $ (1.4) $ 10.0 $ 41.9
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 19.7 $ 32.7 $ 39.8
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DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,

2005 was another milestone year for Blackboard. We achieved record levels of revenue, net income, earnings per share 
and cash f lows. We executed well against our goals for the client experience and general operations. And we negotiated 
the acquisition of WebCT, Inc., a transaction we ultimately completed in early 2006. For these reasons and others, we 
are pleased by the short- and long-term progress made in 2005.

Indeed, it is a great privilege to share the details of our activities last year in this, our annual report to shareholders. 
And because our focus is on Blackboard’s priorities for 2006 and beyond, allow us to spend some time looking forward 
as well. We are still in the early days of the Internet’s impact on universities and schools, and the opportunity to improve 
educational quality, efficiency and access worldwide keeps everyone at Blackboard firmly focused on what lies ahead.

In many ways, our goals for 2006 mirror our successes in 2005. The primary drivers for our growth in 2005 were retaining 
our current clients, expanding the value of our existing client relationships and adding new client subscribers. It is this 
focus on our subscription business model that ties our strategy, our clients’ priorities and our shareholders’ interests 
together, now and in the future.

Continued Financial Performance
Why is an annual subscription model the foundation of Blackboard’s business? With this model, we earn our clients’ 
business each year; a wonderful incentive to stay focused on constant product innovation and industry leading service and 
support. By focusing on exceeding our clients’ expectations, we are rewarded with significant visibility and predictability 
in our operating results, along with opportunities to increase business with current clients and win new subscribers in the 
tight-knit education marketplace. We are pleased to report that 2005 demonstrated the unique advantages of our model.

For the full year 2005, we generated total revenue of $135.7 million, an increase of 22 percent over 2004. Revenues from 
our international markets were $21.9 million, an increase of 30 percent from 2004.

“ Blackboard is clearly a mission critical service for Seton Hall. It provides the means for 
students to do their coursework and for faculty to get information to students. Blackboard is a 
necessary part of our infrastructure. Our vision is to create a seamless Networked Learning 
Environment and the Blackboard Academic Suite is essential to achieving that.”

 STEPHEN LANDRY, CIO, SETON HALL UNIVERSITY



Operating income grew 144 percent to $24.4 million. Net income increased 316 percent to $41.9 million, while net 
income per diluted share improved 600 percent to $1.47. Included in Blackboard’s 2005 results are income tax benefits 
totaling $14.8 million that drove a $0.52 increase in both net income and cash net income per diluted share.

Operating expenses grew 10 percent to $111.2 million from $101.4 million in the prior year. The most significant area 
of investment in 2005 was personnel. Employee count increased from 481 to 549, or 14 percent, during 2005.

Blackboard’s operating margin expanded significantly, ending the year at 18 percent compared to 9 percent in 2004. Our 
continued margin expansion ref lects the increasing operating leverage of our subscription model and demonstrates our 
ability to scale.

For the year, cash f low from operations increased $7.1 million, or 22 percent, and totaled $39.8 million compared to 
$32.7 million in the prior year.

Capital expenditures totaled $8.0 million in 2005, representing 5.9 percent of total revenues.

We are proud to have delivered these financial results to our shareholders in 2005.

An Impact Beyond Financial Statements
As pleased as we are with our financial performance in 2005, it was our increased presence across the global education 
industry that was Blackboard’s most fundamental and noteworthy accomplishment last year. Thanks to a business model 
that drives us to exceed our clients’ expectations, and the social passion our employees feel for the impact of our products 
and services, we continued to grow our client subscriber base and expand our existing client relationships. During the year, 
our client subscriber base grew to 2,264 institutions in 65 countries. Millions of teachers and learners—from elementary 
school on—used Blackboard products to improve and extend their education.

Why do clients choose (and choose again) to work with Blackboard? Current clients drive our business. We are a leader 
in research and development efforts in the e-Learning industry which is ref lected in the high level of innovation in our 
product suites. In terms of client support, we continue to enhance our 24-hour, real-time support offerings and expand 
the number of dedicated Technical Support Managers.

The results of these and other investments are ref lected in our 2005 success across multiple operational priorities:

   Our renewal rate was 92%, exceeding our 90% target.

   Our enterprise license count grew by 25 percent over 2004.

   Our client up-sell rate from the Basic edition of the Blackboard Learning System™ to the Enterprise edition 
increased to 11%.

   We released the Blackboard Academic Suite 7.0, providing clients around the globe with powerful multi-language 
and mobile capabilities.

   We achieved 99.9 percent up-time for our 348 clients utilizing Blackboard’s ASP hosting services.

   We opened a new European data center, expanding our ability to host our products for clients around the world.
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“ The multi-language capabilities of Release 7.0 of the Blackboard Academic Suite are 
tremendous and enable Seneca to enhance our market position. These language capabilities 
are important both for our partnerships in China as well as for enhancing student  
communication at our main campus.”

 TERRY VERITY, CIO, SENECA COLLEGE



Moving Forward: 2006 and Beyond
Without question, the most notable development during 2005 was our October announcement of our intent to merge 
with WebCT, Inc. This transaction, which we completed in February 2006, marked a major catalyst for us and, we 
think, the entire education industry.

Given that we share the same subscription business model, we expect that the merger with WebCT offers a unique 
catalyst to our continued growth. We have welcomed more than 1,400 recurring-subscription clients globally with the 
WebCT transaction, an increase of more than 60 percent from where Blackboard alone stood at the end of 2005.  
We significantly expanded our footprint across every type of academic institution—from four-year private and public 
schools, to two-year colleges, to major K–12 school districts, to elite international universities. Said another way, we have 
dramatically increased our client reference base in an industry that is inf luenced heavily by peer referrals.

The merger of Blackboard and WebCT goes beyond our two companies. It creates a large, collaborative community of 
academic institutions—a global e-Learning “Community of Practice.” Bringing Blackboard and WebCT together makes 
us an even stronger partner for innovating and supporting what at many institutions is the least developed, yet one of the 
most strategic, segments of their technology infrastructure. Further, it breaks down barriers and enables collaboration 
across institutions by developers and end-users at a critical time in the evolution of e-Learning technologies.

The acquisition of WebCT, because it amplifies our longstanding strategy and business model, positions us well for the 
future. As we progress through 2006, we have a predictable business model, a strong competitive position and ambitious 
growth goals to pursue the multibillion-dollar education technology market. To ensure our success, we will focus on the 
following strategic priorities:

   Maintaining high client renewal rates through great products and high-quality service and support

   Expanding the impact and value of our existing client relationships

   Increasing the number of academic institutions who subscribe to our products and services, in particular by expanding 
our presence in the fast-growing emerging markets of U.S. K–12 and global higher education

   Developing high-impact products and services that address the evolving needs of our client community

   Recruiting, developing and retaining the talent we need to support our growth goals, including continued 
investment in employee training to cultivate the next generation of Blackboard leaders as the scale and complexity 
of our business increases

As always, we thank our senior management team and employees for performing at their highest level during this past 
year. We demanded a great deal and they responded in kind. Their impact can be seen in the performance of our business 
and the success of our clients.

To our shareholders, thank you again for your ongoing confidence and support. Our accomplishments in 2005 have 
positioned Blackboard well to enable educational innovations everywhere in 2006 and beyond.

“ One of Kettering University’s goals is to provide leading edge information technology solutions 
for administrative, academic and research areas. We want to have an increasingly high-tech 
look and feel on campus to reinforce our role as a first-class engineering and technical school. 
Blackboard is one of our strategic delivery systems. We rely on Blackboard to deliver our 
24x7 operational needs as well as play a key role in helping us to reach our strategic goals.”

 JIM HAMILTON, VICE PRESIDENT, INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, KETTERING UNIVERSITY

Michael Chasen
Chief Executive Officer  

and President

Matthew Pittinsky
Chairman of the Board 
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This rryort cont~~ins jbw~ard-looking statements that involl~e risks and uncertainties that could cause our 
uctual results to d i f l r  n~aterially from those expressed or implied by such Jtatement.7. Fuctors that might cause 
or contribute to such differences include, hut are not 1imitc.d to, t h e  discussed in the section entitled " R i ~ k  
Fuctors" under Item IA. When used in this report, the words "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "jhn.s," 
"believes," "seeks," "estin~utes" cmd sindur expressions are generally intended to identi& forwurd-looking 
statements witlrm the meaning of The Private Sccuriti~.~ Lltigution Rejivn~ Act of 1995. You should not place 
undue reliance on zhesv .forward-looking statetnents, which reflect our opinions only us o f  the date of this 
report. Blackhoord assumes no obligation trnd does not intend to update these forward-looking statements. 

PART I 

Item 1. Busiizess. 

General 

We are a leading provider of enterprise software applications and related services to the education 
~ndustry. Our product line consists of five sofiware applications delivered in two suites, the Bkzckboard 
Academic suiterM and the Blackboard Comtverce ~ u i t e ' ~ .  We license these products on a renewable basis, 
typically for an annual term. Our clients primarily include colleges, universities, schools and other educalion 
providers, as well as textbook publil;hers and student-focused merchants who serve these education providers 
and their students. These clienh use our software to integrate technology into the education experience and 
campus life, and to support activities such as a professor assigning digital materials on a class website; a 
student collaborating with peers or completing research online; an administrator managing a departmental 
website; or a merchant conducting cash-free transactions with students and faculty through pre-funded debit 
accounts. 

We believe that our operating hislory provides us with experience that enables us to analyze and address 
the needs of the education industry. We began operations in 1997 as a limited liability company organized 
under the laws of the state of Delaware and served as a primary contractor to an education industry technical 
\tandards organization. 111 1998, we incorporated under the laws of the state of Delaware and acquired 
Courselnfo LLC, which had developed an internal online learning system used by faculty at Cornell 
University, and had begun marketing its technology to universities and school districts in the United States and 
Canada. Since the time of our acquiqition of Courselnfo, we have grown from approximately 26 licenses of 
one sctl'lware application as of December 31, 1998 to more than 3,200 licenses of five software applications, in 
two suites, as of December 31, 2005. 

Oul software applications can be installed locally at a client site or hosted centrally in our data centers. 
As of December 3 I ,  2005, approximately 85% of our installations were installed locally and 15% were hosted 
by us. As of December 31, 2005, approxin~ately 2,264 client9 in approximately 60 countries held more than 
3,200 licenses of our qoftware. We count a university or school district as a single client even if it includes 
multiple entities that are separately licensing our p~oducts. We count each license for any one of our software 
applications as a beparate license. As a result. it is possible for a single client to have multiple licenses. 

On October 12, 2005, we entered into an agreement and plan of merger with WebCT, Inc., or WebCT, 
and one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries which contemplates [hat we will acquire WebCT for a purchase 
price of $180.0 million in cash, less specified expenses and other adjustments set forth in the agreement 
through the merger of our subsidiary with WebCT. On February 6, 2006, we announced that we had received 
regulatory clearance from the U.S. Department of Justice to conlplete the transaction. Completion of the 
transaction remains subject to customary closing condilions. 

If the merger is consummated we would pay the purchase price using a combination of our available 
working capital and financing vehicles to be provided pursuant to a $80.0 million senior secured credit 
Facilities commitment letter with Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch (Credit Suisse). The commitment letter 
provides for a $70.0 million senior secured term loan facility repayable over six years and a $10.0 million 
senior secured revolvmg credit facility due and payable in full at the end of five years. If the facilities are 



rated at or above the ratings threshold set forth in the commitment lelter, the interest on the facilities will 
accrue at one of the following rates selected by us (a) adjusted LJBOR plus 2.25%-2.50% or  (b) an alternate 
base rate plus 1.25%-1.50%. If the facilities are rated below such ratings threshold, the interest on the facilities 
will accrue and be payable quarterly in arrears at one of the following rates selected by us (a) adjusted LIBOR 
plus 2.50%-2.75% or (b) alternate base rate plus 1.50%-1.75%. The alternate base rate is the higher of Credit 
Suisse's prime rate and the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%. In addition, we have agreed to "flex" terms, 
allowing Credit Suisse to alter specil'ied provisions of the facilities, including but no1 limited to the interest 
rate, if advisable to ensure a successful syndication of the facilities. 

Under the tenns of the commitment letter, the credit facilities would be guaranteed by all of our domestic 
subsidiaries and secured by perfected first priority security interests in, and mortgages on, substantially all of 
our tangible and intangible assets (including the capital stock of each specified subsidiary) and each of our 
subsidiaries, In addition, the facilities would contain cuhtomary negative covenants applicable to us and our 
subsidiaries with respect to our operations and financial condition. 

Under the agreement and plan of merger, we and WebCT each have a termination right if a court or 
governmental agency has issued a final, non-appealable order preventing the consummation of the merger. In 
addition, if the agreement and plan of merger is terminated other than by mutual consent or as a result of a 
breach by WebCT, we would be required to pay WebCT $15.0 million in liquidated damages. 

Market Overview 

O m  primary market is the U.S. postsecondary education market, which accounted for approximately 63% 
of o m  total revenues for 2005. We also sell into the international postseconda~y market, the U.S. K-12 
education markets and other markets, which accounted for approximately IS%, 8% and 14% of our total 
revenues for 2005, respectively. Other markets consists primarily of education publishers, commercial 
education providers and United States government organizations. 

Products and Services 

We have created a broad product line of enterprise software applications for the education industry. 
Clients can license our enterprise software applications individually or in one of two suites, the Bluckboard 
Acudunic Suite and the Bluckboard Commerce Suire. We offer the Blackboard Acudemic Suite in all of our 
markets, and currently offer the Blackboard Coinmrrce Suite primarily in the U.S. and Canadian postsecondary 
markets. We also sometimes serve as an application service provider, offering hosting for our clients that 
prefer to oi~tsource the management of the hardware, bandwidth and servers necessary to run our applications. 
In addition to our products, we offer a variety of professional services that help clients tnaxirnize the benefit 
received from our products, including project management, custom application development and training. 

The Blackboard Academic Suite 

The Blackboard Academic Suite provides a scalable and easy-to-use technology platform for delivering 
education online, managing digital content and aggregating access to tools, information and content through an 
integrated Web portal environment. The applications that make up the Blackboard Academic Suite are: 

the Blackboard Ltwrnit~g SystenzTM; 

the Blackboard Comrnuniry systemTM; and 

the Blackboard Content  s stern^^ 



Blackboard Learning System 

The Blackboard Learning System allows education providers to support a feature-rich online teaching and 
learning environment that can be used to augment a classroom-based program or for distance learning. The 
major capabilities of the Blackboard Learning System include: 

Learning environment. Instructors can post syllabi and course materials, including documents, graph- 
ics, audio, video and multimedia; manage course communication through integrated email, discussion 
forums and live virtual classrooms; facilitate group collaboration, communication and file-sharing; 
create, deliver and automatically score online assignments and tests; and report grades and other 
information to students. Additional capabilities are available through the integration of third-party 
Bluckhoard Building  locks'^ tools developed by our clients or independent parties. Bluckbourd 
Building Blocks allows institutions to download, install and manage third-party extensions. These third- 
party applications add functionality to our products and several client-managed online communities 
exist to foster open source development of enhancements to our products as well. 

Integration with existing systems. Built on an enterprise Java architecture, the Blackboard LParning 
Svstenl is capable of supporting n~ultiple end users in a high-usage environment. Our products can be 
integrated with existing campus student information systems and campus registrar's systems to access 
the user, course and enrollment information stored throughout the institution. 

Systern admini.strution. User categories, or roles, are definable across the features of our products, 
including the ability to designate access parameters for all roles and set access policies Tor guest 
accounts and observers, such as parents, advisors, mentors and supervisors. System administrators can 
customize user roles. The appearance and configuration of  our products are customizable by each client 
for multiple independent user populations on the same system hardware and database. 

In addition, we offer the Blackboard Learning System-Basic ~ d i t i o n ' ~ ,  a stand-alone, entry-level version 
of the Blackboard Lrarnitig Systcm suitable for small-scale implementations. Version 7 of the Blackboard 
Leurning *tern supports 8 language configurations, including English, Spanish, Italian, Dutch, German, 
French, Japanese and simplified Chinese. We previously offered a separate multi-language version, Bluckboard 
Learning Systrm M L ' - ~  to support language configurations other than English. 

Blackboard Corninunity Systcm 

The Blackbourd Community System is an enlerprise inforrna~ion portal application designed specifically 
for the education industry. As part of the Bluckboard Academic Suite, the Blackboard Community System 
extends the Blackbourd Learning System to include functionality for student organizations, faculty and staff, 
departmental collaboration, information distribution and single sign-on access to existmg administrative 
systems. The ma,jor academic capabilities of the Blackbourd Community System include: 

Ciiston~izuhle portal environment. The Blackhourd Community System enables institutions to provide 
their users, such as students, faculty and administrators, access through a customizable Web portal to 
multiple content sources, campus services, administrative systems and personal information manage- 
ment tools, such as email and calendar. Each institution can configure the Bluckbourd Community 
System to support multiple brands within the institution and deliver content such as RSS feeds and new 
modules to targeted user groups. In addition, each user can customize the Bbckhoard Community 
System according to his or her needs and preferences. 

Community anti communication tools. The Blackboard Conzmcrnity System facilitates campus discus- 
sion boards that are accessible by all met-s on the campus. Additionally, clients can define dedicated 
online sites allowing departments, clubs and other campus organirations to distribute content, manage 
communicalion with their organr~ation members and provide for online collaboration among the 
members of such organizations. 

Single sign-on uccess. The Blackboard Community Systeni can act as the single sign-on access to a 
variety of campus systems, eliminating the need Tor multiple access points and identification 



verifications. Institutions and independent software vendors can create custom portal applications that 
provide views into content and data from other systems or integrate other applications. 

Blackboard Conlent System 

The Blackboard Content System, which we released in March 2004, provides enterprise content manage- 
ment capabilities. The application supports teaching, learning, research, archival, extracurricular and depart- 
mental activities that require the central management, tagging, sharing and re-use of electronic files, such as 
lecture notes for multiple sections of a course, learning objects, test banks and library electronic reserve 
materials. The major capabilities of the Bluckhocird Content System include: 

Vir-tual hard drive. Institutions can provide students, faculty and staff with Web-based file storage 
space from any computer with Internet access. Users can store and share liles, track versions and 
synchronize those files with their own computer using the HTTP extensions for distributed authoring, 
known as the Web directory and versioning protocol, or WebDAV. To assure appropriate usage of the 
file space, administralors can manage disk space quotas and set bandwidth controls. 

Learning content management. Instructors can manage versions of documents and other course 
material and can re-use contenl across courses. Institutions can create content repositories at departmen- 
tal, school and institutional levels to facilitate the sharing and searching of digital content. 

Libwry digitul usset munagernent. Librarians can create and manage collections of digital content for 
use by specific courses, disciplines or the entire institution. 

Electronic por/fiolio.s. Users can collect and organize their academic work as electronic porlfolios, 
which can be shared with other users on the system, as well as published externally. These portfolios 
can be used for academic assignments, curriculum development and standards alignnient for K-12 
classes, or professional development, such as rBsumBs and job applications. 

The Blackboard Commerce Suite 

The Blackbourd Commerce Suite can be used for on- and off-campus commerce, online e-commerce, 
meal plan administration, vending, laundry services, copy and print management and student and staff 
identil'ication. The applications that make up the Blackboard Commerce Slrite are: 

the Blackboard Trunsaction systemyM; 

the Blackboard Communify System; and 

Blackbourd oneTM. 

Blackboard Tratisaction System 

The Blackboard Transaction Systeni is an enterprise software application that we license along with 
various hardware to allow clients to establish an integrated student debit account program for charging 
incidental expenses such as meals and academic materials, typically using the campus ID card. The hardware 
that we sell as part of the Blackboard Transuction System includes servers, cards, card readers and 
point-of-sale devices. The Blackboard Trunsuction Svstem can also support activities such as facilities access 
and idenlity verification. The principal fealures of the Blackboard Transaction System include: 

Commerce. Transaction processing capabilities of the Blackbourd Transaction System support the 
creation and nianagement of student debit accounts, as well as the processing of payments against those 
accounts using student ID cards on campus, such as in dining facilities, vending machines, copy 
machines and bookstores, off-campus and online. Our clients use the Blackboard Transaction System to 
manage point-of-sale transactions, such as prepaid debit cards, meal plan administration, cash 
equivalency, privilege verification and discounts, and self-service or unattended transactions, such as 
vending, laundry. printing and copying and parking. 



Activities mcrrmgemerzt and security. The access-rights capabilities of the Blackboard Trurzsaction 
Sjlstmz enable a variety of applications using the client's investment in a single-card environment for 
commerce. These include event admission, student government voting, wireless verification on buses, 
library authorization and computer lab access and tracking. In addition, the system interfaces directly 
with door access points to manage identification and secure access control lo facilities using the same 
student ID card. 

Blackboard Community System 

In addition to the functionalities it provides as pall o l  the Blackboard Academic Suite, the Blackbourd 
Community System enables additional transaction capabilities when licensed as part of the Blackbourd 
Comnrerce Suite, including: 

eMarketplace. The Blackboard Co~nmunity System enables campus business units and student organi- 
zations to sell products, which may be paid with the student debit account. Users can activate template- 
driven tools that allow them to describe, price, display and charge for an item all within the campus 
portal environment. Uses include campus bookstore online purchases, athletics and event tickets, library 
fees and parking fees. 

Web account managernent. Through an online account, end users can manage a variety of activities, 
including online deposits, guest and parent deposits, balance inquiries, transaction history statements 
and lost and stolen card reports. 

Blackboard One 

Bluckbaard One is bundled with the Blarkboard Commerce Suiw and enables students and faculty to use 
their university ID cards as a form of payment ol'f-campus. We recruit local merchants to accept student debit 
accounts as a form of  payment and facihtate the processing of transactions by th~rd-party merchants that use 
the Blackboard Trunsaction Sy~tenz. By utilizing the existing Blachboard Transuctiort System debit account at 
the university, Blackboard One provides students with a secure, cashless and convenient way to make 
purchases while assuring parents that their funds will be spent within a university-approved merchant network. 
We develop the off-campus merchant network on behalf of each university and manage the program, from 
merchant acquisition and funds settlement to transaction terminal support. Also, if requested by the client, we 
simultaneously conduct customized marketing carnpagns designed to build the card program brand and 
increase deposits into the accounts. 

Professional Services 

Our professional services support the implementation and maintenance of the educational environment in 
order to help clients lnaxiinize the value of our various enterprise software applications. Our services group 
offers: 

project management; 

integration of our applications with existing campus systems; 

user interhce cubtoini~ation: 

installation and configuration; 

course and content migration; and 

custom Bluckboard Buildilillg Blocks application development. 

Training is available online and on-site for both the Blackboard Academic Suite and the Blackboard 
Commerce Suite. as is instructional design consulting for the Bhckboard Academic Suite. 



Competition 

The market for education enterprise software is highly fragmented and rapidly evolving, and we expect 
competltlon in t h ~ s  market to persist and intensify. Our primary competitors for the Blackboard Acudenzic Suite 
are companies and open source solutions that provide course management systelns, such as WebCT, 
eCollege.com, Desire2Learn Inc., ANGEL Learning, Inc., VCampus Educator, WebTycho, The Sakai Project, 
Moodle and Jenzabar, Inc.; learning contenl management systems, such as HarvestRoad Ltd, and Concord 
USA, Inc.; and education enterprise information portal technologies, such as SunGard SCT Inc., an operating 
unit of SunGard Data Systems Inc. We also face competition from clients and potential clients who develop 
their own applications internally, large divers~fied software vendors who offer product5 in numerous markets 
including the education market and other open source software applications. Our primary competitors for the 
Rlackbourd Commerce Suite are companies that provide university transaction systems, such as The CBQRD 
Group, lnc., as well as off-campus merchant relationship programs. 

We may also face competilion from potential conlpetitors that are substantially larger than we are and 
have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources, and established, extensive direct and 
indirect channels of distribution. As a result. they may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging 
technologies and changes in client requirements, or to devote greater resources to the development, promotion 
and sale of their products than we can. In addition, current and potential competitors have established or may 
establish cooperative relationships among themselves or prospective clients. Accordingly, i~ is possible that 
new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share to 
our detrimenl. 

We believe that the primary competitive factors in our markets are: 

base of reference clients; 

functional breadth and depth of solution offered; 

ease of use; 

complexity of installation and upgrade: 

scalability o f  solution to meet growing needs; 

client service; 

availability oT third-party application and contenl add-ons; and 

total cost of ownership. 

We believe that we compete favorably on the basis of these factors. 

Our Growth Strategy 

We seek to capitalize on our position as a leader in our market to grow our business by supporting several 
significant aspects of education, including teaching, learning, commerce and campus life. Key elements of our 
growth strategy include: 

Incrrcising penetration uf the U.S. postsecondary market. We intend to capitalize on our experience in 
the US. postsecondary education market to further enhance our leadership position. 

Growing annual license revenues. We intend to increase annual license revenues with existing clients 
by upgrading current products, cross-selling complementary applications and focusing on client 
satisfaction. 

Oflaring new prodcrcts to our farget markets. Using feedback gathered from our clients and our sales 
and technical support groups, we intend to continue to develop and offer new upgrades. applications 
and application suites to increase our presence on campuses and expand the value provided to our 
clients. 



Itzcreusing soles to inrertzational postsrcondury and U.S. K- I2  markets. We intend to continue to 
expand sales and marketing efforts to increase sales of our applications to international postsecondary 
institutions as well as U.S. K-12 schools. 

Pursuing strutrgic. relutionships und acquisition upportunitie.~. We intend to continue to pursue 
strategic relationships with, acquisitions of, and investments in, companies that enhance the technolog- 
ical features of our products, offer con~plementary products, services and technologies, or broaden the 
scope of our product offerings into other areas. 

Research and Development 

Each oS the individual applications in our two product suites is developed and maintained by a dedicated 
team of software engineers, product managers and documentation specialists. In addition, we maintain three 
cross-product groups: an engineering services team, which focuses on highly technical product support issues 
that have been escalated by our telephone support operation; a quality control team, which tests our 
applications to identify and correct soltware errors and usability issues before a new product or update is 
released; and a research and development engineering team that works on special development projects that 
involve third parties, including software tools for integrating our products with other campus systems. Our 
research and development group receives feedback on product improvement suggestions and new products 
from clients, either directly or through our sales and client support organizations. We periodically release 
main~enance updates to and new versions of our existing products. In addition, our research and development 
group works on new product initiatives as appropriate. Our products are primarily developed internally and, in 
support of the development of our products, we have acquired or licensed specialized products and 
technologies from other software firms. Our research and development expenses were $1 1.4 million, $13.7 mil- 
lion and $13.9 million in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. 

Marketing and Sales 

Marketing 

We engage in a variety of traditional and online marketing activities designed to provide sales lead 
generation, sales support and increasing market awareness. Our specific marketing activities include print 
advertising in trade publications, direct mail campaigns, speaking engagements and industry trade-shows and 
seminars, which help create awareness o l  our brand and products and services. Examples of specific marketing 
events include the Blackboard Summit, which is our annual meeting of educational and technology leaders 
from the United Stales and abroad; the Blackboard Users' Conference, which is our annual conlerence 
dedicated to all users of Blackboard products as well as prospective clients: and Blackboard Days, which 
provide information sessions at current clienl sites for current and prospective clients. Our marketing group 
also manages our website, which serves as a source oT information about us and our products. 

Sales 

We sell our products through a direct sales force and, in some emerging international markets, through 
re-sellers. Regional sales managers are responsible for sales of our products in their territories and supervise 
account managers who are responsible for maintaining software and service renewal rates among our clients. 
Account managers are typically compensated In part based upon their achieveinent of renewal rate quotas, and 
pursue a wriety of client relations activities aimed at maintaining and improving renewal rates. In addition, 
our sales organization includes technical sales engineers, who are experts in the technical aspects of our 
products and client implementations. 

In our experience, colleges, universities and schools frequently rely on references from peer institutions 
when selectmg a vendor and often involve a variely of internal constituenc~es, such as instructors and students, 
when evaluating a product. In addition, most public education institutions and inany private institutions utilize 
request for proposal, or RFP, processes, by which they announce their interest in purchasing an application and 
detail their requirements so that vendors may bid accordingly. As a result, we generate sales leads from 
sources such as interacting with attendees at conference$, visiting potential clients' sites to provide briefings 



on the industry and our products, responding to inbound calls based on client recommendations and monitoring 
and responding to RFPs. We often structure our licenses i n  a manner that anticipates expansion from one 
product in a suite to multiple products in a suite, and we engage in state or regional agreements when 
appropriate to provide umbrella pricing and contractual terms for a group of institutions. We have U.S. sales 
onices in Washington, D.C. and Phoenix, Arizona. We have international sales offices in Amsterdam and 
Tokyo. 

Executive Officers 

The following table lists our executive officers and their ages as of January 3 1, 2006. 

Name Age Position - - 

Michael L. Chasen . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  34 Chief executive ol'ficer, president, director 
Matthew L. Pittinsky. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  33 Chairman. director 
Peter Q. Repetti . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  44 Chief financial officer 
Todd E. Gibby . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  37 Executive vice president for operations 
James M. Hermens . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  39 Senior vice president for services and support 
David Sample. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  57 Senior vice president for sales 

Matthew H. Small. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  33 Senior vice president for legal, general counsel, secretary 

Mary E. Good. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  42 Senior vice president for human resources and facilities 

Michael J. Reach . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  35 Vice president for finance, treasurer 

Matthew Pittinsky has served as chairman of the board of directors since our founding in 1997. From 
June 1997 to November 1998, Mr. Pittinsky also served as chief executive officer. Before co-founding 
Blackboard, from July 1995 to June 1997 Mr. Pittinsky wa5 a consultant with KPMG Consulling (now 
BearingPoint, Inc.) serving colleges and universities. Mr. Pittinsky is the editor of The Wired Tower, a book 
published in June 2002 analyzing the Internet's impact on higher education. Mr. Pittinsky serves on the board 
of trustees of American University. Mr. Pittinsky received a BS degree from American University and an 
Ed.M degree Srom Harvard University Graduate School of Education. He is currently a Ph.D candidate at 
Columbia University Teachers College. 

Michael Chasen has served as chief executive officer since January 2001, as president since February 
2004 and as a director since our founding in 1997. From June 1997 to January 2001, Mr. Chasen served as 
president. BePore co-founding Blackboard, from May 1996 to June 1997, Mr. Chasen was a consultant with 
KPMG Consulting (now BearingPoint, Inc.) serving colleges and universities. Mr. Chasen received a BS 
degree from American University and a MBA degree from Georgetown University School of Business. 

Peter Repetti has served as chief financial olTicer since June 2001. Prior to joining us, from March 2000 
to April 2001, Mr. Repetti served as the chief financial officer of WebOS Inc., an Internet infrastructure 
soliware company. From December 1995 to August 1999, Mr. Repetti served as chief financial officer and, 
from August 1994 to August 1999, as vice president of finance at Manugistics Group, Inc., a supply chain 
management software company. Mr. Repetti received a BBA degree from The George Washington University 
and a MBA degree from the University of Chicago. 

Todd Gibby has served as executive vice president for operations since July 2005. From August 2002 to 
July 2005, Mr. Gibby served as senior vice president for sales. From January 2001 to August 2002, Mr. Gibby 
served as general manager of our learning systems and community portal systems product lines, and from 
September 1999 to January 2001, he served as vice president for business development and Web properties. 
Prior to joining us, from February 1999 to September 1999, Mr. G~bby  was director of business development 
with Campus Pipeline Inc. Mr. Gibby received a BA degree from Dartmouth College and a MBA degree from 
the Wharton School of Business, University of Pennsylvania. 

James Hermens has served as senior vice president for global services and support since May 2003. 
From December 2001 to May 2003, Mr. Hermens served as the general manager of our transaction systems 
product line. Prior to joining us, from June 2000 to November 2001, Mr. Hennens was a general manager at 



Hollinger Dlgital Inc., a global media company, and fionl June 1997 to June 2000, as vice president and 
director at Sylvan Learning Systems, Inc. (now known as Laureate Education, Inc.). Mr. Hermens received an 
AB degree horn Princelon University and a MBA degree from the Darden School, University of Virginia. 

Matthew Small has served as general couusel since January 2004, secretary since February 2004 and 
senior vice president for legal since February 2005. Mr. Small served as corporate counsel from September 
2002 to January 2004 and assistant secretary from November 2002 to February 2004. Prior to joining us, from 
September 1999 to September 2002, Mr. Small was an associate at the law firm of Testa, Hurwitz & Thibeault 
LLP. Mr. Small received a BA degree from the University of Denver, a MBA degree lrom Ihe University of 
Connecticut School of Business and a JD degree from the [Jniversity of Connecticut Law School. 

David Sample has served as senior vice president of sales since July 2005. Prior to joining us, from 
September 2002 to November 2003, Mr. Sample served as executive vice president for global sales at 
Princeton Softech, from November of 2000 to September 2001, as president and CEO at Davox Corporation, 
from September 1998 to Noven~ber 2000, as president and chief operating officer at ABT Corporation and, 
from July 1986 to March 1997, as senior vice president for sales at Hyperion Solutions Corporation. 
Mr. Sample received a RA degree from Trinity College. 

Mary Good has served as senior vice president for human resources and facilities since April 2004. Prior 
to joining us, Ms. Good served as vice president, human resources for American Management Systems, Inc., a 
professional services and information technology firm, from June 2000 to June 2003. From 1988 to June 2000, 
Ms. Good served in a variety of human resource positions at American Management Systems, Inc. Ms. Good 
received a BS degree from The Pennsylvania State University and a MBA degree from Syracuse University. 

Michael Beach has served as vice president for h a n c e  since June 2001 and treasurer since February 
2004. Prior to joining us, from February 1997 to June 2001, Mr. Beach was an audit senior manager at the 
public accounting firm of Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Beach received a BBA degree from James Madison 
IJniversity. 

Employees 

As of December 31, 2005, we had 549 en~ployees, including 162 in sales and marketing; 108 in support, 
ASP hosting and production: 96 in research and development; 98 in professional services; and 85 in general 
administration. None of our employees are represented by a labor union. We have never experienced a work 
stoppage and believe our relationship with our employees is good. 

International Operations 

We currently operate predominately in the United States. Our revenues derived from operations in foreign 
countries for fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005 were $12.5 million, $16.8 million and $21.9 million, 
respectively. Substantially all of our material identifiable assets are located in the United States. 

Website Access to U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Reports 

Our Internet address is http://www.bIackboard.com. Through our website, we make available, free of 
charge, access to all reports filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission including our Annual 
Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and 
amendments to these reports, as filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file 
such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Copies of any materials we file with, or furnish to, the SEC can 
also be obtained free of charge through the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov or at the SEC's Public 
Reference Room at 450 Fifth St., N.W., Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information on the operation 
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at I-800-SEC-0330. 



Item l A .  Risk Factors. 

Delays in completing our proposed merger with WebCT could result in significant delays, distraction of 
managetnent, disruption of our business and legal and other expenses, and could compromise our ability 
to realize the expected benefits of' our proposed merger with WebCc if we are not able to consummate 
the merger, we may be obligated to pay WebCT $15 tnillion in liquidated damages. 

If we face any delays in conlpleting the merger with WebCT, our business may suffer adverse 
consequences. Due to uncertainty about the merger, our existing and potential customers may delay or defer 
their purchasing decisions. In additton, customers and prospective customers could choose not to purchase 
products from us or to reduce or eliminate the licensing of our current products. As a result, revenues that 
may have ordinarily been received by us may be delayed or not earned at all. In addition, current and 
prospective employees could experience uncertainty about their future roles within the combined company. 
This uncerlainly may adversely affect our ability to attract and retain key personnel. Difficulties with respect 
to ex~sting and potential customers and employees could disrupt our business and distract our managemenl. 
Pursuant to the agreement and plan of merger with WebCT, if we cannot consummate the merger as a result 
of our breach or as a result of a final non-appealable order by a court or government agency, or if we elect not 
to close the merger for any reason other than a breach by WebCT, then we would be obligated to pay WebCT 
liquidated damages of $15 million. 

Our proposed merger with WebCT and any other future business combinations and acquisitions may be 
difJicult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value or divert management attention. 

During the course of our history, we have acquired several businesses, and a key element of our growth 
strategy is to pursue additional acquisitions in the rutwe. Any acquisition could be expensive, disrupt our 
ongoing business and distract our management and employees. We may not be able to identify suitable 
acquisition candidates, and if we do identify suitable candidates, we may not be able to make these 
acquisitions on acceptable terms or at all. If we make an acquisition, we could have difficulty integrating the 
acquired technology, employees or operations. In addition, the key personnel of the acquired company may 
decide not to work for us. Acquisitions also involve the risk of potential unknown liabilities associated with 
the acquired business. 

As a result of these risks, we may not be able to achieve the expected benefits of any acquisition, 
~ncluding the WebCT merger. If we are unsuccessful in completing or integrating acquisilions that we may 
pursue in the future, we would be required to reevaluate our growth strategy and we may have incurred 
substantial expenses and devoted significant management time and resources in seeking lo complete and 
integrate the acquisitions. 

The successful integration of' WebCT wdl require, among other things, integration oC WebCT's operations, 
products, policies and personnel with our business. We may not achieve succesvful integration in a timely 
manner, or at all, and we may not realize the anticipated benefits and synergieq of the merger to the extent, or 
in the timeframe, anticipated. We will also face challenges inherent in efficiently managing an increased 
number of employees and products, including the need lo develop appropriate systems, policies, benefits and 
compliance programh. The inability to manage the increased s i ~ e  and con~plexity of the combined colnpany 
effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business after the merger. 

Future business combinations, including the WebCT merger, could involve the acquisition of significant 
tangible and intangible assets. We currently record in our statements of operations ongoing amortization of 
intangible assets acquired in connection with our historic acquisitions, and may need to recognize similar 
charges in connection with the WebCT merger and possibly any future acquisitions. In addition, we may need 
to record write-downs from future impairments of identified tangible and intangible assets and goodwill. These 
accounting charges would reduce any future reported earnings, or increase a reported loss. In addition, we will 
require substarltially all our available cash to pay the purchase price for the WebCT merger and will require 
addilional funds to be obtained pursuant to the $80.0 million senior secured credit facilities commitment letter 
with Credit Suisse. In future acquisitions, we could also incur debt to pay for acquisitions, or issue additional 
equity securities as consideration, which could cause our stockholders to surfer significant dilution. 



Our ability to utilize, if any, net operating loss carryforwards acquired through the WebCT merger, or 
possibly any future acquisitions, may be significantly limited or unusable by us under Section 382 or other 
sections of the lnternal Revenue Code. 

We will incur a significant amount of debt to finance the WebCT merger, which could which constrict 
our liquidity, result in substantial cash outflows, and adversely affect ourfinancial health and ability to 
obtain financing in the future. 

In connection with the WebCT merger, we have entered into a $80.0 million senior secured credit 
facilities commitment letter with Credit Suisse, pursuant to which Credit Suisse would provide a $70.0 million 
senior secured term loan facility repayable over six years and a $10.0 million senior secured revolving credit 
facility due and payable in full at the end of five years. This debt may impair our ability to obtain future 
additional Cinancing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate or other purposes, 
and a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations may be dedicated to the debt repayment, thereby 
reducing the funds available to us for other purposes and could make u b  more vulnerable to industry downturns 
and cotnpetitive pressures. Any failure by us to satisfy our obligations with respect to these debt obligations 
would constitute a default under the credit facil~ties. 

Providing enterprise software applications lo the education industry is an emerging and uncertain busi- 
ness; if the market for our products fails to develop, we will not be able to grow our business. 

Our success will depend on our ability to generate revenues by providing enterprise software applications 
and services to colleges, universities, schools and other education providers. This market has only recently 
developed and the viability and profitability of this market is unproven. Our ability to grow our business will 
be compromised if we do not develop and market products and services that achieve broad market acceptance 
with our current and potential clients and lheir students and employees. The use of online education, 
transactional or content management software applications and services in the education industry may not 
become widespread and our products and services may not achieve commercial success. Even if potential 
clients decide to impletnent products of this type, they may still choose to design, develop or manage all or a 
part of their system internally. 

Given our clients' relatively early adoption of enterprise software applications aimed at the education 
industry, they are likely to be less risk-averse than most colleges, universities, schools and other education 
providers. Accordingly, the rate at which we have been able to establish relationships with our clients in the 
past may not be indicative of the rate at which we will be able to establish additional client relationships in 
the future. 

Most of our clients use our products to facilitate online education, which is a relatively new field; if 
online education does not continue to develop and gain acceptance, demand for our products could 
sufJer. 

Our success will depend in part upon the continued adoption by our clients and potential clients of online 
education initiatives. Some academics and educators are opposed to online education in principle and have 
expressed concerns regarding the perceived loss of control over the education process that can result from 
offering courses online. Some of these critics, particularly college and university professors, have the capacity 
to influence the market for online education, and their opposition could reduce the demand for our products 
and services. In addition, the growth and development of the market for online education may prompt some 
members of the academic community to advocate more stringent protection of intellectual property associated 
with course content, which may impose additional burdens on clients and potential clients offering online 
education. This could require us to modify our products, 01- could cause these clients and potential clients to 
abandon their online education initiatives. 



We face intense and growing competition, which could result in price reductions, reduced operating mar- 
gins and loss of market share. 

We operate in highly competitive markets and generally encounter intense competition to win contracts. If 
we are unable to successfully compete for new business and license renewals, our revenue growth and 
operating margins may decline. The markets for online education, transactional, portal and content manage- 
ment products are intensely competitive and rapidly changing, and barriers to entry in these markets are 
relatively low. With the introduction of new technologies and market entrants, we expect competition to 
intensify in the future. Some of our principal competitors offer their products at a lower price, which has 
resulted in pricing pressures. Such pricing pressures and increased competition generally could result in 
reduced sales, reduced margins or the failure of our product and service offerings to achieve or maintain more 
widespread market acceptance. 

Our primary competitors for the Blackboard Academic Suite are companies and open source solut~ons 
that provide course management systems, such as WebCT, eCollege.com, Denire2Learn Inc., ANGEL 
Learning, Inc., VCampus Educator, WebTycho, The Sakai Project, Moodle and Jenmbar, Inc.; learning conlent 
management systems, such as HarvestRoaci Ltd. and Concord USA, Inc.; and education enterprise information 
portal technologies, such as SunGard SCT Inc., an operating unit of SunGard Data Systems Inc. We also face 
competi~ion from clients and potential clients who develop their own applications internally, large diversified 
software vendors who offer products in numerous markets including the education market and other open 
source software applications. Our primary competitors for the Blockboard Commerce Suite are companies that 
provide university transaction systems, such as The CBORD Group, Inc., as well as off-campus merchant 
relationship programs. 

We may also face competition from potenlial competitors that are substantially larger than we are and 
have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources, and established, extensive direct and 
indirect channels of distribution. As a result, they may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging 
technologies and changes in client requiremenls, or to devote greater resources to the development, promolion 
and sale of their products than we can. In addition, current and potential competitors have established or may 
establish cooperative relationships among themselves or prospective clients. Accordingly, it is possible that 
new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share to 
our detriment. 

If potential clients or competitors use open source software to develop products that are competitive with 
our products and services, we may face decreased demand and pressure to reduce the prices for our 
products. 

The growing acceptance and prevalence of open source software may make it easier for competitors or 
potential competitors to develop software applications that compete with our products, or for clients and 
potential clients to internally develop software applications that they would otherwise have licensed from us. 
One of the aspects of open source software is that it can be modified or used to develop new software that 
competes with proprietary sol'tware applications, such as ours. Such competition can develop without the 
degree of overhead and lead time required by traditional proprietary software companies. As open source 
offerings become more prevalent, custon~ers may defer or forego purchases of our products which could 
reduce our sales and lengthen the sales cycle for our products or result in the loss of current clients to open 
source solutions. These risks may be heightened by our proposed merger with WebCT. If we are unable to 
differentiate our products from competitive products bahed on open source software, demand for our products 
and services may decline and we may face pressure to reduce the prices of our products. 

Because most of our licenses are renewable on an annual basis, a reduction in our license renewal rate 
could significantly reduce our revenues. 

Our clients have no obligation to renew their licenses for our products after the expiration of the initial 
license period, which is typically one year, and some clients have elected not to do so. A decline in license 
renewal rates could cause our revenues to decline. Although we have experienced favorable license renewal 



rates in recent periods, we have limited historical data with respect to rates of renewals, so we cannot 
accurately predict future renewal rates. Our license renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a 
number of factors, including client dissatisfaction with our products and services, our failure to updale our 
products to maintain their attractiveness in the market or budgetary constraints or changes in budget priorities 
faced by our clients. 

If our product development efforts, including our recently announced development effort codenamed 
Caliper, are delayed, fail to develop a product that gains market acceptance or fail to develop a marketable 
product at all, our I'inancial results could suffer. 

We may experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the successfid development, introduction and 
sale of new producls under developmenl, such as our recen~ly announced development effort codenamed 
Callper. If introduced for sale, the new products may not adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace 
and may not achieve any significant degree of market acceptance, which could cause our financial results to 
suffer. In addition, during the development period for the new products, our customers may defer or forego 
purchases of our products and services. 

Because we generally recognize revenues ratably over the term of our contract with a client, downturns 
or upturns in sales will not be fully reflected in ozcr operating results until future periods. 

We recognize most of our revenues lrom clients monthly over the terms of their agreements, which are 
typically 12 months, although terms can range kom one month to 48 months. As a result, much of the revenue 
we report in each quarter is attributable to agreements entered into during previous quarters. Consequently, a 
decline in sales, client renewals, or market acceptance of our products in any one quarter will not necessarily 
be fully reflected in the revenues in that quarter, and will negatively affect our revenues and profitability in 
future quarters. This ratable revenue recognition also makes it dlfricult for us to rapidly increase our revenues 
through additional sales in any period, as revenues from new clients must be recogni~ed over the applicable 
agreement term. 

Our operating ntargins may suffer i f  our professirmd services revenues increase in proportion to total 
revenues because our professional services revenues have lower gross margins. 

Because our professional services revenues typically have lower gross margins than our product revenues, 
an increase in the percentage of total revenues represented by professional services revenues could have a 
detrimental impact on our overall gross margins, and could adversely afl'ect our operating results. In addition, 
we sometimes subcontract professional services to third parties, which further reduces our gross margins on 
these professional services. As a result, an increase in the percentage of professional services provided by 
third-party consultants could lower our overall gross margins. 

IJ'our products contain errors or i f  new product releases are delayed, we COZLM lose new sales and be sub- 
ject to significant liability claims. 

Because our software products are complex, they may contain undetected errors or defects, known as 
bugs. Bugs can be detected at any pomt in a product's 11fe cycle, but are more common when a new product is 
mtroduced or when new versions are released. In the past, we have encountered product development delays 
and defects in our products. We would expect that, despite our testing, errors will be found in new products 
and product enhancements in the future. Significant errors in our products could lead to: 

delays in or loss of market acceptance of our products; 

diversion of our resources; 

a lower rate of license renewals or upgrades; 

injury to our reputation; and 

increased service expenses or payment of damages. 



Because our clients use our products to store and retrieve critical information, we may be subject to 
significant liability claims if our products do not work properly. We cannot be certain that the limitations of 
liability set forth in our licenses and agreements would be enforceable or would otherwise protect us from 
liability for damages. A material liability claim against us, regardless of its merit or its outcome, could result 
in substantial costs, significantly harm our business reputation and divert management's attention from our 
operations. 

The length and unpredictability of the sales cycle for our software could delay new sales and cause our 
revenues and cash flows for any given quarter to fail to meet our projections or market expectations. 

The sales cycle between our initial contact with a potential client and the signing of a license with that 
client typically ranges from 6 to 15 months. As a result of this lengthy sales cycle, we have only a limited 
ability to forecast the timing of sales. A delay in or failure to complete license transactions could harm our 
business and financial results, and could cause our financial results to vary significantly from quarter to 
quarter. Our sales cycle varies widely, reflecting differences in our potential clients' decision-making processes, 
procurement requirements and budget cycles, and is subject to signilkant risks over which we have little or no 
control, including: 

clients' budgetary constraints and priorities; 

the timing of our clients' budget cycles; 

the need by some clients for lengthy evaluations that often include both their administrators and 
faculties; and 

the length and timing of clients' approval processes 

Potential clients typically conduct extensive and lengthy evaluations before committing to our products 
and services and generally require us to expend substantial time, el'lort and money educating them as to the 
value of our offerings. 

Our sales cycle with international postsecondary education providers and U.S. K-12 schools may be 
longer than our historic U.S. postsecondary sales cycle, which could cause us to incur greater costs and 
could reduce our operating margbts, 

As we target more of our sales efforts at international postsecondary education providers and U.S. K-12 
schools, we could face greater costs, longer sales cycles and less predictability in completing some of our 
sales, which may harm our business. In both of these markets, a potential client's decision to use our products 
and services may be a decision involving multiple institutions and, if so, these types of sales would require us 
to provide greater levels of education to prospective clients regarding the use and benefits of our products and 
services. In addition, we expect that potential clients in both of these markets may demand more custom- 
ization, integration services and features. As a result of these factors, these sales opportunities may require us 
to devote greater sales support and professional services resources to individual sales, thereby increasing the 
costs and time required to complete sales and diverting sales and professional services resources to a smaller 
number of international and U.S. K-12 transactions. 

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax linhilities. 

We are subject to income taxes and other taxes in a variety of jurisdictions and are subject to review by 
both domestic and foreign taxation authorities. The determination of our provision for income taxes and other 
tax liabilities requires significant judgment. Although we believe our estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax 
outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial statements and may materially affect our 
financial results in the period or periods for which such determination is made. 



Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryfonvards may be limited. 

Our federal net operating loss canyforwards are subject to limitations on how much may be utilized on 
an annual basis. The use of the net operating loss carryforwards may have additional limitations resulting from 
certain future ownership changes or other factors under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

lf our net operating loss canyforwards are Surther limited, and we have taxable income which exceeds the 
available net operating loss carryforwards for that period, we would incur an income tax liability even though 
net operating loss canyforwards may be available in future years prior to their expiration, and our future cash 
flow, I'inancial position and financial results may be negatively impacted. 

Ow.future success depends on our ability to continue to retain and attract qrial$ed employees. 

Our I'uture success depends upon the continucd service oI' our key management, technical, sales and other 
critical personnel. Whether we are able to execute effectively on our business strategy will depend in large 
part on how well key management and other personnel perform in their positions and are integrated within our 
company. Key personnel have left our company over the years, and there may be additional departures of key 
personnel from time to time. In addition, as we seek to expand our global organization, the hiring of qualified 
sales, technical and support personnel has been difficult due to the 11miled number ol' qualified professionals. 
Failure to attract, integrate and retain key personnel would result in disruptions to our operations, including 
adversely affecting the timeliness of product releases, the successful implementation and completion of 
company initiatives and the results of our operations. 

If we do not maintain the compatibility of our products with third-party applications that our clients use 
in conjunction with our products, demand for our products could decline. 

Our software applications can be used with a variety of third-party applications used by our clients to 
extend the I'unctionality of our products, which we believe contributes to the attractiveness of our products in 
the market. If we are not able to maintain the compatibility of our products with third-party applications, 
demand for our products could decline and we could lose sales. We may desire in the future to make our 
products compatible with new or existing third-party applications that achieve popularity within the education 
marketplace, and these third-party applications may not be compatible with our designs. Any failure on our 
part to modify our applications to ensure compatibility with such third-party applications would reduce 
demand for our products and services. 

!f we are unable to protect our proprietary technology and other rights, it will reduce our ability to com- 
pete for business. 

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our competitors could use our intellectual property to 
market products similar to our products, which could decrease demand for our products. In addition, we may 
be unable to prevent the use of our products by persons who have not paid the required license fee, which 
could reduce our revenues. We rely on a conlbination of copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as 
licensing agreements, third-party nondisclosure agreements and other contractual provisions and technical 
measures, to protect our intellectual property rights. These protections may no1 be adequate to prevent our 
competitors from copying or reverse-engineering our products. Our competitors may independently develop 
technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. To protect our trade secrets and 
other proprietary information, we require employees, consultants, advisors and collaborators to enter into 
confidentiality agreements. These agreements may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets, 
know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use, misappropriation or 
disclosure of such trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information. The protective mechanisms we 
include in our products may not be sufficient to prevent unauthorized copying. Existing copyright laws afford 
only limited protection for our intellectual property rights and may not protect such rights in the event 
competitors independently develop products similar to ours. In addition, the laws of some countries in which 
our products are or may be licensed do not protect our products and intellectual property rights to the same 
extent as do the laws of the United Stales. 



Zf we are found to infringe the proprietary rights of others, we could be required to redesign ourproducts, 
pay significant royalties or  enter into license agreements with third parties. 

A third party may assert that our technology violates its intellectual property rights. As the number of 
software products in our markets increases and the functionality of these products further overlap, we believe 
that infringement c lams will become more common. Any claims, regardless of their merit, could: 

be expensive 'and time consuming to defend; 

force us to stop licensing our products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property; 

require us to redesign our products and reimburse certain costs to our clients; 

divert management's attention and other company resources; and 

require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary 
technologies, which may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all. 

Expansion of our business internationally will subject our business to additional economic and opera- 
tional risks that could increase our costs and nzuke it difficult for us to operate profitably. 

One of our key growth strategies is lo pursue international expansion. Expansion of our international 
operations may require significant expenditure of financial and management resources and result in increased 
administrative and compliance costs. As a result of such expansion, we will be increasingly subject to the risks 
inherent in conducting business internationally, including: 

foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in reduced revenues and increased operating expenses; 

potentially longer payment and sales cycles; 

difficulty in collecting accounts receivable; 

the effect ol' applicable foreign tax structures, including tax rates that may be higher than tax rates in 
the United States or taxes that may be duplicrttive of those imposed in the United States; 

tariffs and trade barriers; 

general economic and political conditions in each country; 

inadequate intellectual propelly protection in foreign countries; 

uncertainty regarding liability for information retrieved and replicated in foreign countries; 

the difficulties and increased expenses in cornplying with a variety of fore~gn laws, regulations and 
trade standards; and 

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements. 

Unauthorized disclosure of data, whether through breach of our computer systems or otherwise, could 
expose us to protracted and costly litigation or cause us to lose clients. 

Maintaining the security of online education and transac~ion networks is an issue of critical importance 
for our clients because these activities involve the storage and transmission of proprietary and confidential 
client and student information, including personal student information and consumer financial data, such as 
credit card numbers, and this area is heavily regulated in Inany countries in which we operate, including the 
United States. Individuals and groups may develop and deploy viruses, worms and other malicious software 
programs that attack or attempt to infiltrate our products. If our security measures are breached as a result of 
third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, we could be subject to liability or our business 
could be interrupted. Penetration of our network security could have a negative impact on our reputation and 
could lead our present and potential clients to choose competing offerings and result in regulatory action 
against us. Even if we do not encounter a security breach ourselves, a well-publicized breach of the consumer 



data security of any major consumer Web site could lead to a general public loss of confidence in the use of 
the Internet, which could significantly diminish the attractiveness of our products and services. 

Operational failures in our network infrastructure couM disrupt our remote hosting service, could cause 
us to lose current hosting clients and sales to potential hosting clients and could result in increased 
expenses and reduced revenues. 

Unanticipated problems affecting our network systems could cause interruptions or delays in the delivery 
of the hosting service we provide to some of our clients. We provide remote hosting through computer 
hardware that is currently localed in third-party co-location facilities in Virginia and The Netherlands. We do 
not control the operation of these co-location facilities. Lengthy interruptions in our hosting service could be 
caused by the occurrence of a natural disaster, power loss, vandalism or other telecon~munications problems at 
the co-location facilities or if these co-location facilities were to close without adequate notice. Although we 
have multiple transmission lines into the co-location facilities through two telecommunications service 
providers, we have experienced problems of this nature from time to time in the past, and we will continue to 
be exposed to the risk of network failures in the future. We currently do not have adequate computer hardware 
and systems to provide alternative service for most of our hosted clients in the event of an extended loss of 
service at the co-location facilities. Each Virginia co-location facility provides data backup redundancy for the 
other Virginia co-location facility, however, they are not equipped to provide full disaster recovery to all of 
our hosted clients. If there are operational failures in our network infrastructure that cause interruptions, slower 
response times, loss of data or extended loss of service for our remotely hosted clients, we may be required to 
issue credits or pay penalties, current hosting clients may terminate their contracts or elect not to renew them, 
and we may lose sales to potential hosting clients. 

We could lose revenues if there are changes in tlze spending policies or budget priorities for government 
funding of colleges, universities, schools and other education providers. 

Most of our clients and potential clientr; are colleges, universities, schools and other education providers 
who depend substantially on government funding. Accordingly, any general decrease, delay or change in 
federal, state or local funding for colleges, universitie~, schools and other education providers could cause our 
current and potential clients to reduce their purchases of our products and services, to exercise their right to 
terminate licenses, or to decide not to renew licenses, any of which could cause us to lose revenues. In 
addition, a specific reduction in governmental funding support for products such as ours would also cause us 
to lose revenues. 

U S .  and foreign government regulation of the Internet couM caztse us to incur significant expenses, and 
failure to comply with applicable regulations could make our business less eficient or even impossible. 

The application of existing laws and regulations potentially applicable to the Internet, including 
regulations relating to issues such as privacy, defamation, pricing, advertising, taxation, consumer protection, 
content regulation, quality of products and servlces and intellectual property ownership and infringement, can 
be unclear. It is possible that US., state and foreign governments might attempt to regulate Internet 
transmissions or prosecute us for violatwns of their laws. In addition, these laws may be modified and new 
laws may be enacted in the future, which could increase the costs of regulatory compliance for us or force us 
to change our business practices. Any existing or new legislation applicable to us could expose us to 
substantial liability, including significant expenses neceusary to comply with such laws and regulations, and 
dampen the growth in use of the Internet. 

Specific federal laws that could also have an impact on our business include the following: 

The Children's Online Protection Act and the Children's Online Privacy Protection Act restrict the 
distribution of certain materials deemed harmful to children and impose addilional restrictions on the 
ability of online services to collect personal information from children under the age of 13; and 

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act itnposeb parental or student consent requirements for 
specified disclosures of student information, including online information. 



Our clients' use of our software as their central platform for online education initiatives may make us 
subject to any such laws or regulations, which could impose significant additional costs on our business or 
subject us to additional liabilities. 

We may be subject to state and federal financial services regulation, and any violation of any present or  
future regulation could expose us to liability, force us to change our business practices or force us to stop 
selling or modify our products and services. 

Our transaction processing product and service offering could be subject to state and federal financial 
services regulation. The Blc~ckbourd Transaction System supports the creation and management of student debit 
accounts and the processing of payments against those accounts for both on-campus vendors and off-campus 
merchants, For example, one or more federal or state governmental agencies that regulate or monitor banks or 
other types of providers of electronic commerce services may conclude that we are engaged in banking or 
other financial services activities that are regulated by the Federal Reserve under the U.S. Federal Electronic 
Funds Transfer Act or Regulation E thereunder or by state agencies under similar state statutes or regulations. 
Regulatory requirements may include, for example: 

disclosure of consumer rights and our business policies and practices; 

restrictions on uses and disclosures of customer information: 

error resolu~ion procedures; 

limitations on consumers' liability for unauthori~ed account activity; 

data security requirements; 

government registration; and 

reporting and documentation requirements 

A number of states have enacted legislation regulating check sellers, money transmitters or  transaction 
settlement service providers a5 banks. If we were deemed to be in violation of any current or future 
regulations, we could be exposed to financial liability and adverse publicity or forced to change our business 
practices or stop selling some of our products and services. As a result, we could face significant legal fees, 
delays in extending our product and services offerings, and damage to our reputation that could harm our 
business and reduce demand for our producls and services. Even if we are not required to change our business 
practices. we could be required lo obtain licenses or regulatory approvals thal could cause us to incur 
wbstantial cos~s. 

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None. 

Item 2. Properties. 

Our corporate headquarters are located in Washington, D.C., where we lease approximately 63,000 square 
feet of space under a lease expiring in January 2008, with an option to extend the term to January 2013, and 
approximately 11,000 square feet of space under a lease expiring November 2009. We also lease offices in 
Phoenix, Arizona, Amsterdam and Tokyo. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

We are involved in various legal proceedings from time to time incidental to the ordinary conduct of our 
business. We are not currently involved in any legal proceeding the ultimate outcome of which, in our 
judgment based on infornlation currently available, would have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition or results of operatiom. 



Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

No matters were subn~itted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year 
covered by lhis report. 

PART I1 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities. 

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol "BBBB." The following 
table sets forth, for the period indicated, the range of high and low sales prices for our common stock by 
quarter. 

Year Ended December 31,2004: 
Second Quarter (since June 18, 2004) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
ThirdQuarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Fourth Quarter 
Year Ended December 31,2005: 
First Quarter. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Second Quarter. 
Third Quarter. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Fourth Quarter 

High Law 

As of January 3 1 ,  2005 there were approxin~ately 373 holders of record of our outstanding common 
stock. 

We have not paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently expect to retain all 
of our earnings for use in developing our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the 
Coreseeable future. Future cash dividends, if any, will be paid at the discretion of our board of directors and 
will depend, among other things, upon our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, 
general financial condition, contractual restrictions and such other factors as our board of directors may deem 
relevant. 

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities in 2005. 

The equity compensation plan information required under this Item is incorporated by reference to the 
informatwn provided under the heading "Equ~ty Compensation Plan Infonnation" in our proxy statement to be 
filed within 120 days after the fiscal year end of December 31, 2005. 

Item 6. Selected Financial Datu. 

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes, and with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations," included elsewhere in this annual report. The statement of operations 
data for the years ended December 3 1, 3001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005, and the balance sheet data as of 
December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005, are derived from, and are qualified by reference to, our 
audited consolidated financial statement5 that have been audited by Ernst & Young, LLP, our independent 
auditors. 



Year Ended December 31, 
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 --- 

Statement of operations data: 
Revenues: 

Product . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Professional services. 

Total revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Operating expenses: 

Cost of product revenues, excludes 
amortmuon of acquired technology 
included in amorti~ation oP intangibles 
resulting from acquisitions shown below . . .  

Cost of prol'essional services revenues. . . . . . .  
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Sales and marketing 
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Amortization of intangibles res~~lting from 

acquisitions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Stock-based compensation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total operadng expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Loss) income from operations 

. . . . . . . . . . . . .  Inlerest (expense) income, nel. 
(Loss) incon~e besore (provision) benefil for 

income taxes and cumulative change in 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  accounting principle 

(Provision) benefit for income taxes . . . . . . .  

(Loss) income before curnulalive change in 
accounting principle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . .  Cumulative change in accounting principle 

Net (loss) income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Dividends on and accretion of convertible 

preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Net (loss) income attributable to common 

stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Weighted average number of common shares: 
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Net (loss) income attributable to common 
stockholders per common share: 

Basic. .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

(In thousands, except per share data) 

$ 98,632 
1 2,77 1 

1 1 1,403 

25,897 
7,962 

13,749 
35,176 
14,895 

3 3  17 
174 

101,370 

10,033 
315 

10,348 
(299) 



The following iahle sets forth a summary of our balance sheet data: 
December 31, 

200 1 2002 2003 2004 2005 
(In thousands) 

Balance sheet data: 
Cash and cash eqi~ivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Short-term investinents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Working capital (deficit). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . .  Deferred revenues, current portion 
Total debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred 

stock and Series E warrants . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . .  Total stockholders' (deficit) equity 



Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results o f  Operations. 

You should read the jbllowing discussion together n~ith ourfinancial statements und the related notes 
included elsewlzere in this unn~rul report. This discussion contains forward-looking stutemerzts that are based 
on our currenf expectutions, estimates and prqjections ubocit our business and operations. Our actual results 
may d@rr muteriallj from those crirrentlv anticipated and expre,ssed in such forward-looking ,statements as a 
result (f ci number of factors, including those we dircuss under "Risk Fuctors" in Item IA and elsewhere in 
this unnual report. 

General 

We are a leading provider of enterprise software applications and related services to the education 
industry. Our clients use our software to integrate technology into the education experience and campus life, 
and to support activities such as a professor assigning digital materials on a class website; a student 
collaborating with peers or completing research online; an administrator managing a departmental website; or 
a merchant conducting cash-free transactions with students and faculty through pre-f~~nded debit accounts. Our 
clients include colleges, universities, schools and other education providers, as well as textbook publishers and 
student-focused merchants who serve these education providers and their students. 

We generate revenues from sales and l~censing of products and professional services. Our product 
revenues consist principally of revenues from annual software licenses, cl ien~ hosting engagements and the 
sale of bundled software-hardware systems. We typically sell our licenses and host~ng services under annually 
renewable agreements, and our clients generally pay the annual fees at the beginning of the contract term. We 
recognize revenues frorn these agreements, as well as revenues from bundled software-hardware systems, 
which do not recur, ratably over the contractual term, which is typically 12 months. Billings associated with 
licenses and hosting services are recorded initially as deferred revenues and then recognized ratably into 
revenues over the contract term. We also generate product revenues from the sale and licensing of third party 
soStware and hardware that is not bundled with our software. These revenues are generally recognized upon 
shipment of the products to our clients. 

We derive professional services revenues primarily from training, implementation, installation and other 
consultmg services. Subsldntdly all of our proSessional services are performed on a time-and-materials basis. 
We recognize these revenues as the services are performed. 

We typically license our individual applications either on a stand-alone basis or bundled as part of either 
of two suites, the Blackboard Academic Suite and the Bluckhoard Comrnerce Suite. The Blackboard 
Academic Suite includes the Blackboard Learning Svstem, the Blackboard Contmiinity ,Qstem and the 
Blackbaurd Corltenr System. The Bkrckbourd Commerce Suite includes the Bluckboard Transuctian System, 
the Blockbourd Cornntunity System and Blackboard One. We generally price our software licenses on the 
basis of full-time equivalent students or users. Accordingly, annual license fees are generally greater for larger 
~nstitutions. 

Our operating expenses consist of cost of product revenues, cost of professional services revenues, 
research and development expenses, sales and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, 
amortization of intangibles resulling horn acquisitions and stock-based compensation expenses. 

Major components of our cost of product revenues include license and other fees that we owe to third 
parties upon licensing software, and the cost of hardware that we bundle with our software. We initially defer 
these costs and recogni~e them into expense over the period in which the related revenue is recognized. Cost 
of product revenues also includes amortization of internally developed technology available for sale, employee 
compensation and benefits for personnel supporting our hosting, support and production functions, as well as 
related facility rent, co~nmunication costs, utilit~es, depreciation expense and cost of external professional 
services used in these functions. All of these costs are expensed as incurred. The costs of third-party software 
and hardware that is not bundled with software are also expensed when incurred. normally upon delivery to 
our client. Cost of product revenues excludes the amortization of acquired technology recognized from 
acquisitions, which is included in amortization of intangibles resulting from acquisitions. 



Cost of professional services revenues primarily includes the costs of compensation and benefits for 
employees and external consultants who are involved in the performance of professional services engagements 
for our clients, as well as travel and related costs, facility rent, communication costs, utilities and depreciation 
expense used in these functions. All of these costs are expensed as incurred. 

Research and development expenses include the costs of compensation and benefits for employees who 
are associated with the creation and testing of the products we offer, as well as the costs of external 
professional services, travel and related costs attributable to the creation and testing of our products, related 
facility rent, communication costs, utilities and depreciation expense. All of these costs are expensed as 
incurred. 

Sales and marketing expenses include the costs of compensation, including bonuses and commissions, 
and benefits for employees who are associated with the generation of revenues, as well as marketing expenses, 
costs of external marketing-related prolessional services, investor relations, Sacility rent, utilities, comm~tnica- 
tions, travel attributable to those sales and marketing enlployees in the generation of revenues and bad debt 
expense. All of these costs are expensed as incurred. 

General and administrative expenses include the costs of compensation and benefits for employees in the 
human resources, legal. finance and accounting, management informatton systems, facilit~es management, 
executive management and other administrative functions that are not directly associated with the generation 
of revenues or the creation and testing of products. In addition, general and administrative expenses include 
the costs of external professional services and insurance, as well as related facility rent, communication costs, 
utilities and depreciation expense used in these functions. 

Amortization of intangibles includes the amortization of costs associated with products, acquired 
technology, customer lists, non-conlpete agreements and other identifiable intangible assets. These intangible 
assets were recorded at h e  time of our acquisitions and relate to contractual agreements, technology and 
products that we continue to utilize in our business. 

Stock-based compensation expenses relate to historic stock option grants and have arisen primarily as a 
lasult of options granted below lair market value, modifications made to outstanding options and options 
granted to non-employees. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated 
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles, During the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, we are required to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and 
related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and 
assuniptioos, including those related to revenue recognition, bad debts, fixed assets, long-lived assets, including 
goodwill, and income taxes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions 
that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of our analysis form the basis for making 
assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, and the impact of 
such differences may be material to our consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting policies 
have been discussed with the audit committee of our board of directors. 

We believe thal the following critical accounting policies afl'ect the more significant judgments and 
estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements: 

Revenue recognition. Our revenues are derived from two sources: product sales and professional services 
sales. Product revenues include software license, hardware, premium support and maintenance, and hosting 
revenue$. Professional services revenues include training and consulting services. We recogni~e software 
license and maintenance revenues in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' 
Statement of Position, or SOP, 97-2, "Sojtware Reveiwr Rclcognition," a9 modified by SOP 98-9, "Mndifica- 
tion TI SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Rrmgnition, with Respect to Certain Transuctions." Our software does 



not require significant mod~fication and custonlization services. Where services are not essential to the 
functionality of the software, we begin to recognize software licensing revenues when all of the following 
criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred; (3) the fee is 
fixed and determinable; and (4) collectibility is probable. 

We do not have vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of fair value for our support and 
maintenance separate from our software. Accordingly, when licenses are sold in conjilnction with our support 
and maintenance, we recognize the license revenue over the term of the maintenance service period. 

We sell hardware in two types of transactions: sales of hardware in conjunction with our sofiware 
licenses, which we refer to as bundled hardware-software systems, and sales of hardware without software, 
which generally involve the resale of third-party hardware. After any necessary installation services are 
performed, hardware revenues are recognized when all of the following criteria are met: ( I )  persuasive 
evidence of an atrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred; (3) the fee is fixed and determinable; and 
(4) collectibllity is probable. We have not determined VSOE of the fair value lor the separate components of 
bundled hardware-software systems. Accordingly, when a bundled hardware-software system is sold, all 
revenue is recognited over the term of the maintenance service period. Hardware sales without software are 
recognized upon delivery of the hardware to our client. 

Hosting revenues are recorded in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, 00-3, "Applica- 
tion of AlCPA SOP 97-2 to Arrnrzgemenrs Thut lnclude  he Right to Use Sofrware Stored on Another Entity's 
Hardwure." We recognize hosting fees and set-up fees ratably over the term of the hosting agreement. 

We recognize professional services revenues, which are generally contracted on a time-and-materials basis 
and consist of training, implementation and installation services, as the services are provided. 

We do not offer specified upgrades or incrementally significant discounts. Advance payments are recorded 
as deferred revenue until the product is shipped, services are delivered or obligations are met and the revenue 
can be recognized. Deferred revenues represent the excess of amounts invoiced over amounts recognized as 
revenues. We provide non-specified upgrades of our product only on a when-and-if-available basis. 

Short-term Irzvestments: All investments with original maturities of greater than 90 days are accounted 
for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 1 15, "Arcounting for Certuin 
Investnzmts in Debt arid Equity Securities." We determine the appropriate classification at the time of our 
initial purchase of the investment and we reevaluate such designation as of each balance sheet date. 
Held-lo-maturity securities are stated at amortized cost, acljusted for amortization of premiums and accretion 
of discounts to maturity under the effective interest method. Such amortization is recorded as interest income. 
Interest on held-to-maturity securities is recorded as interest income. Available-for-sale securities are carried at 
fair value, with unrealited holding gains and losses, if any, reported in other con~prehensive income. Realized 
gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale securities are 
included in other income (expense). 

Allowance fit- doubtful accounts. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses 
resulting from the inability, failure or refusal of our clients to make required payments. We analyze accounts 
receivable, historical percentages of' uncollectible accounts and changes in payment history when evaluating 
the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. We use an internal collection effort, which may include 
our sales and services groups as we deem appropriate, in our collection eflorts. Although we believe that our 
reserves are adequate, if the financial condition of our clients deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their 
ability to make payments, or if we underestimate the allowances required, additional allowances may be 
necessary. which will result in increased expense in the period in which such determination is made, 

Deferred Income Tases. We provide for income taxes in accordance with the liability method. Under 
this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial 
reporting bases and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. We also recognize deferred tax assets for certain tax 
net operating loss carryforwards. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax 
rates and laws that will be in effect when such amounts are expected to reverse or be utilized. As of 
December 31, 2005, our total net deferred tax assets were $22.3 million. The realization of deferred tax assets 



is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. When appropriate, we recognize a valuation 
allowance to reduce such deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be ultimately realized. 
The calculation of deferred tax assets (including valuation allowances) and liabilities requires management to 
apply significant judgment related to certain Sactors such as the application of complex tax laws, enacted 
changes in tax laws and our future operations. We review our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis to 
determine if a change to our valuation allowance is required based upon these factors. During the three months 
ended December 3 1, 2005, we reduced our deferred tax valuation allowance by approximately $31.6 million, 
having determined that it is more likely than not that this portion of the deferred tax asset will be realized. 
This reduction resulted in the recognition of an income tax benefit totaling $14.8 million. Of the total income 
tax benefit recognized, approximately $12.2 million related to a Federal deferred tax benefit with the 
remainder representing a state deferred tax benefit. As of December 31, 2005, our deferred tax asset valuation 
allowance was $2.9 million, which related primarily lo certain international net operating loss carryforwards 
whose realization is uncertain. Changes in our assessment or the need for a valuation allowance could give 
rise to a change in such allowance, potentially resulting in material amounts of additional expense or benefit 
in the period of change. Although we will continue to have significant net operating loss carrylbrwards which 
are expected to mitigate some of our cash tax expenditures over the next several years, we will begin 
recording, in 2006, a provision for income taxes, which more closely approximates our statutory tax rate 
adjusted for certain permanent items. 

Lorzg-lived assets. We record our long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, at cost. We review 
the carrying value of our long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable in accordance with the 
provisions of SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal c# Long-Lived Assets." We evaluate 
these assets by examining estimated future cash flows to determine if their current recorded value is impaired. 
We evaluate these cash tlows by using weighted probability techniques as well as comparisons of past 
performance against projections. Assets may also be evaluated by identifying independent market values. If we 
determine that an asset's carrying value is impaired, we will record a write-down of the carrying value of the 
identified asset and charge the impairment as an operating expense in the period in which the determination is 
made. Although we believe that the c'urying values of our long-lived assets are appropriately stated, changes 
in strategy or market conditions or significant technological developments could significantly impact these 
judgments and require adjustments to recorded asset balances. 

Goodwill. We assess the impairment of goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and 
Other Intangihlc~ Assets." Accordingly, we test our goodwill for impairment annually on October I, or 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicale an impairment may have occurred, by comparing it& fair 
value to its carrying value. Impairment may result from, among other things, deterioration in the performance 
oS the acquired business, adverse market condi~ions, adverse changes in applicable laws or regulations, 
including change? that restrict the activitiec of the acquired business, and a variety of other circumstances. If 
we determine that an impairment has occurred, we are required to record a write-down of the carrying value 
and charge the impairment as an operating expense in the period the determination is made. Although we 
believe goodwill is appropriately stated in our consolidated financial statements, changes in strategy or market 
conditions could significantly impact these judgments and require an adjustment to the recorded balance. 

Stock-based comperwation. We account for stock-based enlployee compensation arrangements in accor- 
dance with the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to E~nployees," and related 
interpretations, and comply with the disclosure provisions of' SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensutio~z ", as modified by SFAS No. 148, "Accoun/ing .fir Stock-Based Conzpensation - Transition and 
Disclosure, an umendment uf SFAS No. 123." Several companies recently elected to change their accounting 
policies and record the fair value of options as an expense. We currently are not required to record stock-based 
compensation charges if the employee stock option exercise price or restricted slock purchase price equals or 
exceeds the fair value of our common slock at the grant date. Because no market for our common slock 
existed prior to our initial public offering in June 2004, our board of directors determined the fair value uf our 
common stock based upon several Sactors, including our operating perlbrmance, anticipated future operating 
results, the terms of redeemable convertible preferred stock issued by us, including the liquidation value and 
orher preferences of our preferred stockholders, as well as the valuations of other companies. 



On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Based 
Pctynenz," known as SFAS 123(R), which is a revision of SFAS No. 113. SFAS 123(R) supersedes APB 
Opinion No. 25 and amends FASB Statement No. 95, "Stutemerzt qf Cusl~ Fluws." Generally, the approach in 
SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 123. However, SFAS 123(R) requires all share- 
based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recogni~ed in the statements 
of operations based on their Sair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative upon adopting 
SFAS 123(R). 

We adopted SFAS l2XR) on January 1. 2006. SFAS 1 B(R)  permits public companies to adopt its 
requirements using one of two methods: 

A "modified prospective" method in which compensation cost is recognired beginning with the 
effective date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after 
the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all awards granted to 
employees prior to the efl'ective date of SFAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date. 

A "modified retrospective" method which includes the requirements of' the modified prospective method 
described above, but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recogni~ed under 
SFAS 123 for purposes of pro lorma disclosures for eilher (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior 
interim periods of the year of adoption. 

We will implen~ent SFAS 123(R) in the first quarter of 2006 and intend to use the modified prospective 
method. We expect the adoption to result in the recognition of stock-based compensation expense of 
approximately $5.5 million for stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006 plus the expense related to stock 
options granted during 2006. The expense for stock options granted during 2006 cannot be determined at this 
time due to the uncertainty of our stock price, the related Black-Scholes fair value and the timing of future 
grants. 

If we had estimated the fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing 
model and then amortized this estimated fair value over the vesting period of the options, our net (loss) 
income attributable to common stockholders would have changed, as shown in the table below: 

Year Ended December 31. 
2003 2004 2005 --- 

(In thousands, except 
per share amounts) 

Pro forma net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders: 
As reported. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $(I 1,502) $ 3,705 $41,853 
Add: Stock-based compensation included in reported net (loss) 

income attributable to common stockholders. . . . . . . . . . . . . .  319 174 75 

Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under 
Sair value-based method for all awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (2,942) (4.382) (6,03 1) --- 

Pro f o r m  net (loss) income attributable lo common stockholders. . --- $(14,125) $ (503) $35,897 
--- 

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders per 
common share: 
Basic as reported.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2.09) $ 0.23 $ 1.57 --- --- 
Diluted as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2.09) $ 0.21 $ 1.47 --- --- 
Basic -pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2.56) $ (0.03) $ 1.34 --- --- 
Diluted - pro lorma . . 

Acquisitions 

On January 31, 2003, we acquired the assets and liabilities of SA Cash, a div~bloll of Student Advantage, 
Inc., for $4.5 million in cash and assumed liabilities of $467,000. The acquisition was accounted for as a 
purchase and, accordingly, Ihe results of operations have been included in the accompanying consolidated 



statements of operations since the effective date of the acquisition. We performed an analysis of the fair values 
of the identifiable intangible assets acquired in the transaction. The value attributed to the identifiable 
intangible assets acquired included $1.3 million in customer lists. The customer lists are included in intangible 
assets and are being amortized over five years. 

On October 12, 2005, we entered into an agreement and plan of merger with WebCT and one of our 
wholly-owned subsidiaries which contemplales that we will acquire WebCT for a purchase price of $180.0 mil- 
lion in cash, less specified expenses and other adjustments set forth in the agreement through the merger of 
our subsidiary with WebCT. On February 6, 2006, we announced that we had received regulatory clearance 
from the U.S. Department of Justice to complete the transaction. Completion of the transaction remains subject 
to customary closing conditions. 

If the merger is consummated we would pay the purchase price using a combination of our available 
working capital and financing vehicles to be provided pursuant to a $80.0 million senior secured credit 
facilities commitment letter with Credit Sursse. The commitment letter provides for a $70.0 million senior 
secured term loan facility repayable over six years and a $10.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility 
due and payable in full at the end of five years. If the facilities are rated at or above the ratings threshold set 
forth in the commitment letter, the interest on the facilities will accrue at one of the following rates selected 
by us (a) adjus~ed LIBOR plus 2.25%-2.50% or (b) an alternate base rate plus 1.25%-1.50%. If the facilities 
are rated below such ratings threshold, the interest on the facilities will accrue and be payable quarterly in 
arrears at one of the following rates selected by us (a) adjusted LIBOR plus 2.50%-2.75% or (b) alternate base 
rate plus 1.50%-1.75%. The alternate base rate is the higher of Credit Suisse's prime rate and the federal funds 
erfeclive rate plus 0.5%. In addition, we have agreed to "flex" terms, allowing Credit Suisse to alter specified 
provisions of the facilities, including but not limited to the interest rate, if advisable to ensure a successful 
syndication of the facilities, 

Under the terms of the commitment letter, the credit fxilities would be guaranteed by all of our domestic 
subsidiaries and secured by perfected first priority security interests in, and mortgages on, substantially all of 
our tangible and intangible assets (including the capital stock of each specified subsidiary) and each of our 
subsidiaries. In addition, the facilities would contain customary negative covenants applicable to us and our 
wbsidiaries with respect to our operations and financial condition. 

Under the agreement and plan of merger, we and WebCT each have a termination right if a court or 
governmental agency has issued a final, non-appealable order preventing the consummation of the merger. In 
addition, if the agreement and plan of merger is terminated other than by mutual consent or as a result of a 
breach by WebCT, we would be required to pay WebCT $15.0 million in liquidated damages. 

As of December 31, 2005, we have incurred $4.9 million in costs related to this merger with WebCT. 
These costs are classified as deferred merger costs on our consolidated balance sheet. When and if the merger 
is completed, these costs will be included as part of the purchase price allocation. We will perform an analysis 
of the fair values of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired in the transaction which will be 
amorlized or depreciated as appropriate. If it is deemed probable the merger will not be completed, we will 
stop deferring associated merger costs and expense the deferred merger costs in the period it is determined 
that the merger will no1 be completed. 

Important Factors Considered by Management 

We consider several factors in evaluating both our financial position and our operating performance. 
These factors. while primarily focused on relevant financial information, also include other measures such as 
general market and economic conditions, competitor information and the status of the regulatory environment. 

To understand our financial results, it is imporlant to understand our business model and its impact on our 
consolidated financial statements. The accounting for the majority of our contracts requires us to initially 
record deferred revenue on our consolidated balance sheet upon invoicing the sale and then to recognize 
revenue in subsequent periods ratably over the term of the contract in our consolidated statements ol' 
operations. Therefore, to better understand our operations, one must look at both revenues and deferred 
revenues. 



In evaluating our product revenues. we analyze then1 in three categories: recurring ratable revenues, non- 
recurring ratable revenues and other product revenues. 

Recurring ralable revenues include those product revenues that are recognized ratably over the conuact 
term, which is typically one year, and that recur each year assuming clients renew their contracts. These 
revenues include revenues lrom the licensing oC all of our software products, from our hosting 
arrangements and from enhanced support and maintenance contracts related to our software products. 

Non-recurring ratable revenues include those product revenue5 that are recognized ratably over the term 
of the contract, which 1s typ~cally one year, but that do not contractually recur. These revenues include 
the revenues from hardware components of our Blackbuard Trunsaction System products, with and 
without our embedded software, and from third-party hardware and software sold to our clients in 
conjunction with our software licenses. 

Other product revenues include those product revenues that are recognized as earned and are not 
deferred to future periods. These revenues include revenues from the sales of Bluckboard One and 
Blackboard Trunsaction System, as well as the sale of the supplies and from commissions we earn from 
publishers related to digital course supplement downloads. Each of these individual revenue streams has 
historically been insignificant. 

In the case of both recul~ing ratable revenues and non-recurring ratable revenues, an increase or decrease 
in the revenues in one period would be attributable primarily to increases or decreases in sales in prior periods. 
Unlike recurring ratable revenues, which benefit both from new license sales and from the renewal or  
previously exisling licenses, non-recurring ratable revenues primarily reflect one-time sales that do not 
contractually renew. 

Other factors lhat we consider in making strategic cash flow and operating decisions include cash Ilows 
from operations, capital expenditures, total operating expenses and earnings. 

Results of Operations 

The t'ollowlng table sets forth selected statement ol' operalions data expressed as a percentage ol' total 
revenues for each of the periods indicated. 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2003 2004 2005 - - -  
Revenues: 

Product. .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  90% 89% 89% 
Professional services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10 11 11 - - -  

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  100 100 100 
Operating expenses: 

Cost or product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  25 23 22 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Cost of plofessional services revenues 7 7 8 

Research and develop~nent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12 12 10 
Sales and marketing.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  33 32 28 
General and administrative. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  I6 14 14 
Amortization of in~angibles resulting from acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6 3 0 

Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  0 0 0 - - -  

Total operating expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  99 91 82 - - -  

Operating margin. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  I % 9% 18% - - -  - - -  



The following table sets forth, lix each coniponent of revenues, the cost of these revenues expressed as a 
percentage of the related revenues for each of the periods indicated. 

Year Ended 
Dewmbcr 31, 

Cost of product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  28% 26% 25% 
Cost of professional services revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  72% 62% 67% 

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004 

Revcxues. Our total revenues for the year ended December 3 1, 2005 were $1 35.7 million, representing 
an increase of $24.3 million, or 21.8%, as compared to total revenues of $1 11.4 million for the year ended 
December 3 1 , 2004. 

Product revenues, including both domestic and international, for the year ended December 31, 2005 were 
$120.4 million, representing an increase of $21.8 million, or 22.1%, as compared to product revenues of 
$98.6 million for the year ended December 3 1 ,  2004. A detail of our total product revenues by classification is 
as follows: 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2004 2005 - - 
(In millio~isl 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Recurring ratable revenues $74.5 $ 95.7 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Non-recurring ratable revenues 18.2 18.1 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Other product revenues. 5.9 6.6 - - 

Total product revenues . . 

Certain amounts in the prior period's product revenues classifications have been reclassified to confonn to 
the current period presentation. 

The increase in recurring ratable revenues was primarily due to a $6.8 nlillion increase in revenues from 
Blackboard L~arning System licenses, a $4.3 million increase in hosting revenues, a $3.5 million increase in 
revenues from Bluckborrrd Community Systrm licenses, a $3.0 million increase in revenues from Bluckbourd 
Content Sjstem licenses, a $1.4 million increase in revenues from Blarkboard Trmsaction System licenses and 
a $1.3 million increase in revenues from Blackboard Lcwrning System-Basic Edition licenses and a $960,000 
Increase in revenues from enhanced support and maintenance revenues related to our software products. The 
increases in each of these categorieq were attributable to prior period sales to new and existing clients. As of 
December 31, 2005, we had a 2% increase in the number of clients as compared to December 31, 2004. 
Further, during 2005, our clients renewed or upgraded approximately 92% of the renewable licenqe dollars 
eligible to be renewed during 2005, which was consistent with 2004. The increase in Blackboard Learning 
Sy,ctern license revenues was also attributable to the continued shift from the Blnckhourd Learning System - 
Busic Edition to the enterprise version of the Bluckboard Learning System and the resulting higher average 
pricing and contractual value of these licenses. 

The decrease in non-recurring ratable revenues was primarily due to a $1.0 million decrease in revenues 
from Blcrckhourd Tmrzsuctioi~ Systenr hardware products due to a decrease in current and prior period sales. 
This decrease was offset in part by a $400,000 increase in non-recurring hosting revenues, primarily including 
set-up revenues, and a $420,000 increase in non-recurring publisher fees. 

Of our total revenues, our international revenues for the year ended December 3 1, 2005 were $2 1.9 mil- 
lion, representing an increase of $5.1 million, or 30.3%, as compared to $16.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2004. International product revenues were $20.0 million, representing an increase of $5.1 mil- 
lion. or 33.9%, as compared to international producl revenues of$14.9 million for the year ended December 3 l ,  
2004. The increase in international product revenues was driven primarily by an increase in recurring ratable 
revenues. This increase was primarily due to a $2.0 million increase i n  revenues from Bluckl~ourd Learning 
Sy~tern licenses, a $1.3 million increase in revenues from Bhckbourd Co~?lmunity System licenses, a $960,000 



increase in revenues from Blackboard Content System licenses, a $400,000 increase in revenues from 
Bluckboard Learning System-Basic Edition licenses and a $270,000 increase in hosting revenues. The increases 
in each of these categories were attributable to prior period sales to new and existing clients. The increase in 
Blackbourd Learning System revenues internationally was primarily attributable to the same factors that 
contributed to the increase in overall revenues for these products. The increase in international revenues also 
reflected our continued investment in increasing the size of our international sales force and international 
marketing efforts during 2005, which expanded our international presence and enabled us to sell more of our 
products to new and existing clients in our internadonal markets. 

Professional services revenues for the year ended December 3 1, 2005 were $15.3 million, representing an 
increase of $2.5 million, or 19.6%, as compared to professional services revenues of $12.8 million for the year 
ended December 31. 2004. The increase in professional services revenues was primarily attributable to an 
increase in the number of enterprise licensees, which generally purchase greater volumes of our service 
offerings. 

Cost of product revetzues. Our cost of product revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005 was 
$29.6 million, representing an increase of $3.7 million, or 14.3%. compared to $25.9 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2004. The increase in costs of product revenues was primarily due to a $2.1 million 
increase in expenses for our hosting services due to the increase in number of clients contracting for our 
hosting services and the expansion of our hosting services facilities during 2005, a $1.2 million increase in 
sublicense costs primarily associated with the Blackboard Conterlt System which was released in March 2004 
and a $650,000 increase in our technical support group expenses. Cost of product revenues as a percentage of 
product revenues decreased to 24.6% lor the year ended December 3 I ,  2005 from 26.3% for the year ended 
Decenlber 3 1 ,  2004, due primarily to the decrease in Blackl~oard Trunsacrion System hardware sales and 
shipments during the year ended Decembes 31, 2005. Bhckbourd Trunsuction System hardware products 
generally have lower gross margins than our software products. 

Cost of prc?fessionul services revenues. Our cost of professional services revenues lor the year ended 
December 31, 2005 was $10.2 million, representing an increase of $2.3 million, or 28.4%, compared to 
$8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase in cost of professional services revenues was 
directly related to the increase in professional services revenues. Cost of professional services revenues as a 
percentage of professional services revenues increased to 66.9% for the year ended December 31, 2005 from 
62.3% for the year ended December 3 1, 2004. The increase in cost of professional services revenues was 
primarily due to a $1.9 increase in personnel-related costs due to an increase in staffing necessary to manage 
lhe increase in the number and s i ~ e  of service engagements throughout the year. 

Reseurch and development expenses. Our research and development expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2005 were $13.9 million, representing an increase of $196,000, or 1.495, as compared to 
research and developlnent expenses oS $13.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was 
primarily attributable to a $500,000 increase in professional service expenses resulting from our continued 
efforts to increase the fi~nctionality ol' our products. This increase was offset in part by a $400,000 decrease in 
recruiting and relocation costs related to hiring efforts during 2004 in our research and development 
department. 

Sales and marketing expenses. O ~ i r  sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 3 1, 2005 
were $37.9 million, representing an increase of $2.7 million, or 7.7%, as compared to sales and marketing 
expenses of $35.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to a 
$3.2 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to an increase in headcount and higher average salaries 
due to annual salary increases during 2005 and a $675,000 increase in general marketing activities. These 
increases were offset in part by a $1.4 million decrease in bad debt expense for the year ended December 3 1, 
2005 as con~pared to the year ended December 31, 2004. This decrease is associated with the continued 
improvement in collections on accounts receivables over prior periods and lhe reinstatement and subsequent 
collections on accounts receivable that were deemed uncollectible in prior periods. 

Geneml und ndnlinistrutive exl?mstJs. Our general and administrative expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2005 were $19.2 million, representing an increase of $4.3 million, or 29.1%, from $14.9 million 



for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was pri~narily attributable to a $1.5 million increase in 
employee compensation costs related to full year costs for new senior management hires in 2004, increased 
headcount related LO new hires during 2005 and higher average salaries across all general and administrative 
functional departments due to annual salary increases in 2005. General and administrative expenses also 
increased due a $1.4 million increase in professional service costs associated with costs of being a public 
company, including increased expenses related to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance activities, a $520,000 increase in 
insurance costs due to higher liability coverage costs associated with being a public company and a $625,000 
increase in costs related to an increase in the office space in our Washington, D.C. headquarters, including 
rent, utilities, repairs and maintenance expenses. 

Net interest income. Our net interest income for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $3.1 million, 
representing an increase of $2.8 million from $3 15,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004, The increase in 
net interest income was attributable primarily to higher cash and short-term investment balances for the year 
ended December 3 1, 2005 as compared to the year ended December 3 1, 2004 resulting from the receipt of 
proceeds from our 1PO in June 2004, cash generated from operations from current and prior periods and the 
repayment of outstanding debt during current and prior periods. 

h o m e  taxes. Our benefit for income taxes for the year ended December 3 1. 2005 was $14.3 million 
compared to a provision for income taxes of $299,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. For the first 
lime in our history, we had generated cumulative earnings from operations for the three-year period ended 
December 3 1, 2005. As a result of this positive earnings trend and projected operating results in the 
foreseeable future, we determined that it was more likely than not that we would be able to generate sufficient 
taxable income to ~~ t i l i ze  our net operating loss carryforwards, and accordingly, reduced our deferred tax asset 
valuation allowance by approximately $31.6 million. This reduction resulted in the recognition of an income 
tax benefit totaling $14.8 million. Of the total income tax benefit recognized, approximately $12.2 million 
related to a Federal deferred tax benefit with the remainder representing a state deferred tax benefit. We do 
not have an established history of earnings related to our international net operating loss canyforwards, 
primarily resulting from our operations in The Netherlands, and therefore $2.4 million in international net 
operating loss carryforwards continue to be fully reserved through a valuation allowance as of December 31, 
3-005. Although we will continue to have significant net operating loss canyforwards which are expected to 
mitigate some of our cash tax expenditures over the next several years, we will begin recording, in 2006, a 
provision lor Income taxes, which more closely approximates our statutory tax rate adjusted lor certain 
permanent items. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogni~ed based on temporary differences between the financial 
reporting bases and the tax baser of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are also recognized for certain 
tax net operating loss carryforwards. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted 
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such amounts are expected to reverse or be utilized. The 
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. Valuation 
allowances are provided to reduce such del'erred tax assets to amounts more likely than not to be ultimately 
realized. 

As of December 31, 2005, we had net operating loss carryforwards for Federal income tax purposes of 
approximately $40 million. Approximately $3 million of this amount is restricted under Section 382 of the 
Internal Revenue Code. Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code limits the utilization of net operating losses 
when ownership changes, as defined by that section, occur. We have performed an analysis of our Section 382 
ownership changes and determined that the utilization of some of our net operating loss carryforwards may be 
limited. This limitation will defer the utili~ation of approximately $3 million of our net operating loss 
carrylorwards, which will be limited to approximalely $200,000 per year and will expire, if unused, by the end 
of 2019. We believe we will have sufficient taxable income in those periods to utilize the available net 
operating loss carryforwards, and therefore we believe it is more likely than not that these assets will be 
r e a l i d .  



Net Income. As a result of the foregoing, our net income for the year ended Deceinher 31, 2005 was 
$41.9 million, representing an increase of $31.8 million or 316.5% from $10.0 million for the year ended 
December 3 1, 2004. 

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003 

Revenues. Our total revenues ior the year ended December 3 1, 2004 were $1 11.4 million, representing 
an increase of $1 8.9 million, or 20.5%, as compared to total revenues of $92.5  nill lion for the year ended 
December 3 1, 2003. 

Product revenues, including both domestic and international, for the year ended December 31, 2004 were 
$98.6 million, representing an increase of $15.3 million, or 18.4%, as compared to product revenues of 
$83.3 million for the year ended December 3 1, 2003. A detail of our total product revenues by classil'ication is 
as follows: 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2003 2004 - - 
(In millions) 

Recurring ratable revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $58.2 $74.5 
Non-recurring ratable revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19.0 18.2 

Other product revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6.1 5.9 - - 
Total product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Certain amounts in the prior period's product revenues classifications have been reclassified to conform to 
the cument period presentation. 

The increase in recurring ratable revenues was primarily due to a $6.8 nlillion increase in revenues from 
Blackboard Learning System licenses, a $3.5 million increase in hosting revenues, a $2.5 million increase in 
revenues from Bluckboard Trunsaction System licenses, a $2.2 million increase in revenues from Blackbuurd 
Commrtnity System licenses and a $I .  I million increase in revenues from Bluckboard Content Systenz licenses. 
The increases in each of these categories were attributable to prior period sales to new and existing clients. As 
of Dece~nher 31, 2004, we had a 5% increase in the number of clients as compared to December 31, 2003. 
Further, during 2004, our clients renewed or upgraded approximately 92% of the renewable license dollars 
eligible to be renewed during 2004, which is consistent with 2003. The increase in Blackboard Learning 
Svstem license revenues was also attributable to the continued shift from the Bluckboard Learning System - 
Basic Edition to the enterprise version of the Bluckboard Leurtling System and the resulting h~gher average 
pricing and contractual value of these licenses. 

The decrease in non-recuning ratable revenues was primarily due to decreased revenues from Blutlkboard 
Transactiort Systenr hardware products due to a decrease in sales and shipments of Blackboard Transaction 
Syszrm hardware during the year ended December 3 1 ,  2004 as compared to the year ended December 3 1, 
2003. 

Of our total revenues, our international revenues for Lhe year ended December 31, 2004 were $16.8 mil- 
lion, representing an increase of $4.3 million, or 34.4%, as compared to $12.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2003. International product revenues were $14.9 million, representing an increase of $3.5 mil- 
lion, or 30.676, as compared to international product revenues of $ 1  l .4 million for the year ended December 3 1 ,  
2003, The increase in international product revenues was driven primarily by an increase in recurring ratable 
revenues. This increase was primarily due to a $3.5 million increase in revenues from Blackboard Learning 
System licenses resulting from prior period sales to new and existing clients, including a prior period sale to 
one large international client. The Increase in Blackboard Learnitig System revenues interna~ionally was 
primarily attributable to the same factors that contributed to the increase in overall revenues for these products. 
The increase in international revenues also reflected our continued investment in increasing the size of our 
international sales force and international marketing efforts during 2003, which expanded our international 
presence and enabled us to sell more of our products to new and existing clients in our international markets. 



Professional services revenues for the year ended December 3 1, 2004 were $12.8 million, representing an 
increase of $3.6 million, or 39.6%, as compared to professional services revenues of $9.1 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2003. The increase in professional services revenues was primarily attributable to an 
increase in the number of enterprise licensees, which generally purchase greater volumes of our service 
offerings. 

Cost of product revenues. Our cost of product revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 was 
$25.9 million, representing an increase of $2.8 million, or 12.2%, compared to $23.1 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2003. The increase in costs of product revenues was primarily due to a $3.0 million 
increase in hosting costs associated with the increase in number of hosting clients, a $2.5 million increase in 
our technical support group expenses primarily due to increased personnel-related costs to provide improved 
service to our clients and a $650,000 increase in costs related to the Blackboard Content Systenz. These 
increases were offset primarily by a decrease in Blackboard Tran.wctian System hardware costs due to the 
decrease in sales and shipments of Blactkhourd Transaction Sys tm~  hardware during the year ended 
December 3 1 ,  2004 as compared to the year ended December 3 1, 2003. 

Cost of product revenues as a percentage of product revenues decreased to 26.3% for the year ended 
December 3 1 ,  2004 from 27.7% for the year ended December 31, 2003, due prirnarily to the decrease in 
Blackboard Transaction S w t ~ m  hardware sales and shipments during the year ended December 3 1, 2004. 
Blackboard Transaction Systenz hardware sales generally have lower gross margins than our software product 
sales. 

Cost of professional services revenues. Our cost of' prof'essional services revenues for the year ended 
December 3 1 ,  2004 was $8.0 million, repre5enting an increase of $1.3 million, or 20.1 %, compared to 
$6.6 million for the year ended December 3 1, 2004. The increase in cost of professional services revenues is 
primarily due to an increase In personnel-related costs directly related to the increase in professional services 
revenues. Cost of professional services revenues as a percentage of professional services revenues decreased to 
62.3% for  he year ended December 31, 2004 from 72.5% for the year ended December 31, 2003 primarily 
due to an Increase in our internal ut~li~ation rates and an increase in hourly bill rates for the year ended 
December 31, 2004 as compared 10 f ie year ended December 31, 2003. 

Rcsearch and dr~velopnlent expenses. Our research and development expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2004 were $13.7 million, representing an increase of $2.3 million, or 20.6%, as compared to 
research and development expenses of $1 1.4 million for the year ended December 3 1, 2003. This increase was 
primarily attributable to a $900,000 increase in personnel-related costs, a $400,000 increase in professional 
services costs and a $375,000 increase in relocation and recruiting costs. These increases are due to an 
increase in headcount and development efforts related to our continued efforts to increase the functionality of 
our products. 

Sales and marketing expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 3 1, 2004 
were $35.2 mlllion, representing an increase of $4.3 million, or 13.8%, as compared to sales and marketing 
expenses of $30.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase was primarily attributable to a 
$2.8 million increase in personnel-related costs in our sales and marketing departments primarily due to an 
increase in marketing personnel headcount, higher average salaries due to annual salary increases during 2004, 
including revised incentive compensation plans for our sales persons during 2004, and increased recruiting 
costs to replace and increase the number of quota-bearing sales persons during 2004. The increase in sales and 
marketing expenses was further due to a $1.3 million increase in general marketing activities, which included 
our User Conference in March 2004 that was larger than in prior year\, a $I .O million increase in personnel- 
related costs associated with movement of some personnel to other functional areas within the company during 
2003. and a $700,000 increase in reseller costs primarily related to one large sale to an international client in 
prior periods, These increases were offset primarily by a $2.2 million decrease in bad debt expense due to 
mproved collections on our accounts receivable and collections on previously written off accounts from prior 
periods, 

General and adnrinistt-utive expenseJ. Om general and administrative expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2004 were $14.9 million, representing an increase of $164,000, or I.l%, from $14.7 million for 



the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase was primarily attribuhble to a $630,000 increase in 
personnel-related costs due to a $375,000 increase in bonus expense due to revised compensation packages for 
key enlployees in general and administrative functional departments, a $200,000 increase in employee 
compensation related to the hiring of senior nlanagenient positions during 2004 and higher average salaries 
across all general and administrative functional departments due to annual salary increases in 2004. General 
and administrative expenses also increased due to a $300,000 increase in insurance expenses due to higher 
liability coverage associated with being a public company, a $200,000 increase in Delaware state franchise 
expenses due to increase in number of shares outstanding associated with our IPO in June 2004 and option 
exercises, a $200,000 increase in professional service costs associated with being a public company, a 
$150,000 increase in professional service costs relaled to the implementation of a new custon~er relationship 
management system and a $120,000 increase in rent expense associated with our obtaining additional space at 
our Washington, D.C. d i c e  location. These increases were offset primarily by a $750,000 decrease in legal 
and accounting expenses associated with litigation and international operations during the year ended 
December 31, 2003 and a $600,000 decrease in personnel-related costs associated with movement of some 
personnel to other f~mcdonal areas within the Company during 2003. 

Net interest (exprns~>) income. Our net interest income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was 
$3 15,000 compared to net interest expense of $470,000 for the year ended December 3 1, 2003. The increase 
in net interest income was primarily d~ le  to higher cash balances during the year ended December 3 I, 2004 
than the year ended December 31, 2003 resulting from the receipt of proceeds from our IPO in June 2004 and 
repayment of outstanding debt during current and prior periods. 

Income taxes. Our provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $299,000 
compared to $614,000 for the year ended December 3 1 ,  2003. During 2004, the Internal Revenue Service 
issued an Internal Revenue Bulletin - Revenue Procedure 2004-34, which allows for greater consistency 
between GAAP and income tax revenue recognition for companies that recognize revenues in a ratable 
manner. During 2004, we determined that we would adopt this method for our 2004 and subsequent income 
tax filings. As a result of this adoplion, we will recognize cumulative income tax expense adjustments, which 
will decrease our federal and state taxable income by approximately $34.0 million, and we will have a net loss 
for federal income tax purposes but will be subject to certain international and state taxes in 2004. Further, we 
will not be subject to federal alternative minimum taxes as were incurred in 2003. The provision for income 
taxcs for the year ended December 31, 2004 reflects this adoption. 

Net income (1os.s). As a result of the foregoing, we reported net income of $10.0 million for the year 
ended December 3 1, 2004, compared to a net loss or $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. 

Quarterly Results 

Our quarterly operating results and operating cash flows normally fluctuate as a result of seasonal 
variations in our business, principally due to the liming of client budget cycles and student attendance at clienl 
facilities. Historically, we have had lower new sales in our first and fourth quarters than in the remainder of 
the year. Our expenses, however, do not vary significantly with these changes and, as a result, such expenses 
do not fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis. Historically, we have performed a disproportionate amount 
of our professional services, which are recognized as incurred, in our second and third quarters each year. We 
expect quarterly fluctuations in operating results and operating cash flows to continue as a result of the uneven 
seasonal demand for our licenses and services offerings. 



The following table sets forth selected statements oC operations and cash llow data for each of the 
quarters in the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005. 

Ouarter Ended - 
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, 

2004 2004 2004 2004 - - 
(In thousands) 

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $25,2 19 $26,355 $29,776 $30,053 
Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  24,023 25,023 26,682 25,642 
Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 ,196 1,332 3,094 4,41 1 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Net income 786 1,05 1 3,480 4,732 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating 

activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1,867) 4,203 18, 103 12,292 

Quarter Ended 
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31. 

2005 2005 2005 2005 - - 
(In thousands) 

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $30,942 $33,049 $35,927 $35,746 
Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  25,803 27,29 1 29,3 18 28,805 
Income from operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,139 5,758 6,609 6,941 
Nel income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,4 10 6,063 7,269 23,111 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating 

act~vities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (I ,42 1) 2,506 22,28 1 16,447 

For the first time in our history, we had generated cumulative earnings from operations for the three-year 
period ended December 3 1, 2005. As a resull or this positive earnings trend and projected operating results in 
the foreseeable future, we determined that it was more likely than not that we would be able to generate 
sufficient taxable income to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards, and accordingly, reduced our deferred 
tax asset valuation allowance by approximately $31.6 million. This reduction resulted in the recognition of an 
income tax benefit of $14.8 million for the quarter ended December 3 1 ,  2005. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

We recognize revenues ratably on annually renewable agreements, which results in deferred revenues. 
DeCerred revenues as of December 31, 2005 were $77.2 million, representing an increase of $10.1 million, or 
15. I%, from $67.1 million as of December 3 1, 2004. Deferred revenues increased due to the higher number of 
renewing licenses during 2005 than 2004, ofhet by the recognition of revenues from prior period sales. 

Our cash and cash equivalents were $75.9 million at December 31, 2005 as compared to $78.1 million at 
December 3 1,  2004. The decrease in cash and cash equivalen~s was due to our net purchases of $42.6 million 
in short-term investments, which included government agency bonds and auction rate securities, during 2005 
which yield a higher rate of return than our cash and cash equivalents. Our short-term investments were 
$62.6 million at December 3 1, 2005. If our proposed merger with WebCT is consumn~ated, the purchase price 
payable by us would be $180.0 million less specified expenses and other adjustments set forth in the 
agreement and plan of merger. We would pay the purchase price using a combination of our available cash 
and cash equivalents and shot--term investments and the funds to be available pursuant to the $80.0 senior 
secured credit facilities commitment letter with Credit Su~sse. 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $39.8 million during the year ended December 3 1, 2005, an 
increase of $7.1 million, or 21.6(%, from $32.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2004. This 
increase was primarily due to our $3 1.8 million increase in nel income during rhe year ended December 31, 
2005 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2004, which includes a $14.8 million income tax benefit 
associated with the reduction oT our del'erred tax asset valuation allowance by approximately $31.6 million and 
a $3.0 million larger increase in accrued expenses as of December 3 1, 2005 as compared to December 3 1, 
2004 primarily due to a $1.3 million increase in accrued bonuses associated wilh increase in compensation 



plans for certain executives during 2005 and a lower frequency of annual employee bonus payments; annual 
bonuses were split between two payments in 2004 as compared to only one payment in 2005. Therefore, 
accrued bonuses at the end of 2005 represent the annual bonus payments to en~ployees to be paid in the first 
quarter of 2006. These increases were offset In part by a $5.4 million unfavorable impact to cash flows related 
to an increase in accounts receivable due to an increase in invoicing associated with increased sales to new 
and existing clients during 2005 as compared to 2004 and a $3.3 n~illion decrease in amortization of 
intangibles resulting from acquisitions due to certain identifiable intangible asset balances being fully 
amortized in prior periods. The increase m net cash provided by operating activities was further decreased by 
a $4.0 million decrease in the change in deferred revenues as of December 31, 2005 from December 31, 2004 
as compared to the change in deferred revenues as of December 3 1, 2004 from December 3 1, 2003 primarily 
due to the timing of sales and invoicing related to sales of the Bluckbourd Trunsaction System 

Net cash nsed in investing activities was $53.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2005, an 
increase of $25.7 million, or 93.5%, from $27.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2004. This 
increase in cash usage was due to the $88.6 million investment of our cash and cash equivalents in higher 
yield short-term investments, offset by sales of short-term investments of $46.0 million and purchases of 
property and equipment of $8.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2005. Further, during 2005, we 
paid $2.5 rnilhon in costs related to our proposed merger with WebCT. 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $ 1  1 .D milhon during the year ended December 3 1 ,  2005 as 
compared to net cash provided by financing aclivities of $42.4 million during the year ended December 3 1, 
2004. This decrease was primarily due to the $50.9 million in proceeds from our IPO in June 2004, net of 
offering costs, offset in part by a $9.8 million increase in proceeds from stock option exercises during the year 
ended December 31, 2005 and a $9.9 million decrease in repayments on outstanding debt during the year 
ended December 3 1, 2005 as compared to the year ended December 3 1, 2004. 

As of December 31, 2005 we had no outstanding debt. Our working capital line of credit with Silicon 
Valley Bank expired on April 30, 2005 by its terms. During the three months ended December 31, 2005, we 
repaid all amounts outstanding on our equipment lines of credit with Silicon Valley Bank. We did not deem 
the working capital line of credit or equipment lines of credit to be necessary and consequently did not renew 
them upon their expiration. 

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and filture cash provided 
by operating activities, together with borrowings available under the commitment letter described before 
related to the WebCT merger, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs 
over the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including whether and 
when we complete the WebCT merger, our rate of revenue growth, the expansion of our marketing and sales 
activities, the tinling and extent of spending lo support product development el'forts and expansion into new 
territories, the timing of introductions of new products or services, the tirning of enhancements to existing 
products and services and the timing of capital expenditures. Also, we may make investments in, or 
acquisitions of, complementary businesses, services or technologies which could also require us to seek 
additional equity or debt financing. To the extent that available funds are insufficient to fund our future 
activities, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financing. Additional 
funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all, 

Off- Bulurzce Sheet Arrungements 

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements with unconsolidated entities or related parties and 
accordingly, there are no off-balance sheet risks to our liquidity and capital resources from unconsolidated 
entities. 



Obligations and Commitments 

As of December 31, 2005, minimum future rental payments under noncancelable operating leases and 
ren~al income from subleases are as follows for the years below: 

Operating Sub Lease 
Leases Income - - 

(In thousands) 

2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $3,807 $139 
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,901 13 1 

2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  838 - 

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  702 - 
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  101 - 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  201 1 and beyond 65 - - 
Tbtal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $8,414 $270 - - 

On January 27, 2006, we entered into an amendment for our Washington, D.C. lease adding additional 
space and extending our lease term until January 2008, with an option to extend the term to January 2013. 
Our annual rental payments will increase by approximately $400,000 per year through 2007 and by 
approximately $35,000 for 2008, which is not included in the above table. 

Seasonality 

Our operating results and operating cash flows norlnally lluctuate as a result of seasonal variations in our 
business, principally due to the timing of client budget cycles and student attendance at client facilities. 
Historically, we have had lower new sales in our first and fourth quarters than in the remainder of the year. 
Our expenses, however, do not vary significantly with these changes and, as a result, such expenses do not 
fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis. Historically, we have performed a disproportionate amount of our 
professional services, which are recognized as incurred, in our second and third quarters each year. In addition, 
deferred revenues can vary on a seasonal basis for the same reasons. We expect quarterly fluctuations in 
operating results and operating cash flows to continue as a result of the uneven seasonal demand for our 
licenses and services offerings. This pattern may change, however, as a result of acquisitions, new market 
opportunities or new product introductions. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

Qn December 16, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Statement No.  123 (revised 2004), "Share-Bul-ed 
Puymerzt", or SFAS 123(R), which is a revision of SFAS 123. SFAS 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, 
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employee$", and amends FASB Statement No. 95, "Statement of Cash 
Flocvs". Generally the approach in SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123. However, 
SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants oS employee stock options, to 
be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an 
alternative upon adopting SFAS 123(R). 

We adopted SFAS 123(R) on January 1 ,  2006. SFAS 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its 
requirements using one of two methods: 

A "modified prospective" method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning wilh the 
effective date (a) based on the requirements of SFAS 123[R) for all share-based paymenls granted after 
the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all awards granted to 
employees prior to the effective date of SFAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date; or 

A "modified retrospective" method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method 
described above, but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized under 
SFAS 123(R) for purposes of pro forma disclosures either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior 
interim periods of the year of adoption. 



We will implement SFAS 123(R) in the Sirst quarter of 2006 and intend to use the modified prospective 
method. We expect the adoption to result in the recognition of stock-based compensation expense of 
approximately $5.5 million for stock options granted prior to January 1, 2006 plus the expense related to stock 
options granted during 2006. The expense for stock options granted during 2006 cannot be determined at this 
time due to the uncertainty of our stock price, the related Black-Scholes fair value and the timing of future 
grants. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Our principal exposure to market risk relates to changes in interest rates. Our working capital line of 
credit with Silicon Valley Bank expired on April 30, 2005 by its terms. During the three months ended 
December 3 1, 2005, we repaid all outstanding amounts due on our equipment lines of credit. In connection 
with our proposed merger with WebCT, we have entered into a $80.0 million senior secured credit facilities 
commitment letter with Credit Suisse. If the facilities are rated at or above the ratings threshold set forth in 
the commitment letter, the interest on the facilities will accrue at one of the following rates selected by us 
(a) adjusted LlBOR plus 2.25%-2.50% or (b) an alternate base rate plus 1.25%-1.50%. If the facilities are 
rated below such ratings threshold, the interest on the facilities will accrue and be payable quarterly in arrears 
at one of the following rates selected by us (a) adjusted LIBOR plus 2.5096-2.7576 or (b) alternate base rate 
plus 1 .SO%-1.75%. The alternate base rate is the higher of Credit Suisse's prime rate and the federal funds 
effective rate plus 0.5%. In addition, we have agreed to "flex" terms, allowing Credit Suisse to alter certain 
provisions o f  the facilities, including but not limited to the interest rate, if advisable to ensure a successful 
syndication of the facilities. Assuming we draw the entire $80.0 million under the credit facilities, a one- 
percentage point change in the interest rates ultimately applicable to our credit facilities could result in an 
increase of up to $800,000 in our future interest expense per year, before taking into account repayment of 
any principal. 

Interest income on our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investmenls is subject to interest rate 
flucluations, but we believe that the impact oS such lluctuations does not have a material effect on our 
financial position because of the short-term nature of the relevant financial instruments. For the year ended 
December 31, 2005, a one-percentage point adverse change in interest rates would have reduced our interest 
income for the year ended December 3 1, 2005 by approximately $1.1 million. 
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting, as such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). There iue inherent limitations in 
the effectiveness of any internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of human error and 
the circumvention or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even el'fective internal control over financial 
reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation. Our internal 
control system was designed lo provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of linancial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive 
officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the 
framework in Internal Control - Integrated Frumework, our nlanagement concluded that our internal control 
over financial reporting was effective as of December 3 1,  2005 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Our management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 3 1, 2005 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, 
as stated in their report which is included herein. 

Signature Title - 

IS/ MICIIAEI. L. C~IASEN Chief Executive Officer and Director February 15, 2006 
Michael L. Chasen (Principal Executive Officer) 

/s/ PETER Q. REPETTI Chief Financial Off'icer February 15, 2006 
Peter Q. Repetti (Principal Financial Officer) 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Blackboard Inc. 

We have audited the accon~panying consolidated balance sheets of Blackboard Inc. as of December 31, 
2004 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1, 2005. Our audits also included the 
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial statements and schedule are 
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements and schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis. evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial poution of Blackboard Inc. at December 31, 2004 and 2005, and the consolidated 
results of its operations and ~ t s  cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepced accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial 
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, present 
fairly in all material respect5 the information set forth therem. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Blackboard Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 3 1, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 9, 2006 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

McLean, VA 
February 9, 2006 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTLNG FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Blackboard Inc. 

We have audited management's assesment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Blackboard Inc. maintained effective internal control over 
hnancial reporting as of December 3 1, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Intrgmtrd 
Frumework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organimtions of the Treadway Cornmission (the COSO 
criteria). Blackboard Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
con~pany's internal control over llnancial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating 
management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliabhty of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that ( 1 )  pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi- 
tures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of 
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorired 
acquisition, ube, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
slatements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management's assessment that Blackboard Inc. maintained effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO 
criteria. Also, in our opinion, Blackboard Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control 
over financial reporting as or December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audi~ed, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets or Blackboard Inc, as of December 31, 2004 and 2005, 
and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 3 1 ,  2005 of Blackboard Inc. and our report dated February 9, 
2006 exprevsed an ~mqualified opinion thereon. 

ERNST & YOUNG LLP 
McLean, Virginia 
February 9, 2006 



BLACKBOARD INC . 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31 . 
2004 2005 

(In thousands) 

Current assets: 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Cash and cash equivalents 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Short-term investments 
Accounts receivable. net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $954. 000 and 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $701. 000 at December 31. 2004 and 2005 . respectively 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Inventories 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred tax asset. current portion 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred cost of revenues. current portion 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Total current assets 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred tax asset. noncurrent portion 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred cost of revenues. noncurrent portion 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred merger costs (WebCT. Inc.). 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Property and equipment. net 
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Intangible assets. net 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Total assets 

Current liabilities: 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Accounts payable 

Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Equipment note. current portion 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred rent. current portion 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred revenues. current portion 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Total current liabilities 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Equipment nole. noncurrent portion 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred rent. noncurrent portion 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred revenues. noncurrent portion 

Commitments and contingencies 

Preferred stock. $0.01 par value; 5.000. 000 shares authorized. and no shares issued 
or outstanding at December 3 1 .  2004 and 2 0 5  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Common stock. $0.01 par value; 200.000. 000 shares authorized; 25.977. 822 and 
27.479. 351 shares issued and outstanding at December 31. 2004 and 2005. 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  respectively 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Additional paid-in capital 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred stock compensation 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Accumulated deficit 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Total stockholders' equity 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 

See accompanying notes . 



BLACKBOARD INC . 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

Revenues: 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Product 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Professional services 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Total revenues 

Operating expenses: 

Cost of prodirct revenues. excludes arnorti~ation of acquired 
technology included in amortization of ~ntangibles resulting 
from acquisitions shown below (see Note 2) . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Cost of professional services revenues 
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Sales and marketing 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  General and administrative 

Amortization of intangibles resulting from acquisitions . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Stock-based compensation 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Total operating expenses 

(Loss) income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Other income (expense). net: 

Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Interest income 

(Loss) income before provision (benefil) for income taxes . . . . . .  
(Provision) benefit for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Net (loss) income 

Dividends on and accretion of convertible preferred stock . . . .  

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders . . . . . . . .  
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders per 

common share: 

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Diluted 

Weighted average number of cornmon shares: 

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Year Ended December 31 . 
2003 2004 2005 

(In thousands. except share and per share data) 

See accompanying notes . 
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BLACKBOARD INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY 

Common Stock 

Shares An~ount -- 

Additional Deferred 
Paid-ln Stock Accumulated 
Capital Cn~npensation Deficit 

(In thousands, except share amounts) 
$ 17,859 $ (85) $( 1 3 1,232) 

Total 
Stockholders' 

(Deficit) Equity 

Balance at December 3 1. 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of 

options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Issuance of common slock in conncctmn with 

acquisition of Prornetheus . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
lssuancc of compensatory slock crplions. . . . . .  
Recognition of stock compensation for 

modification of options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Amortization of deferred stock compensation . . 
Accretion of bcncficial conversion feature 

associatcd with Series E Preferred Shares and 
warranls . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Accretion on prcferrcd stock and related 
dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Netloss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Balance at Ikccmber 3 1,2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Issuance of common slock upon exel-cisc of 
options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of 
WBITBllLS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Issuance of common stock in connection with 
acquisition of Prometheus . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Issuance of compensatory stock options. . . . . .  
Amortization of deferred stock conlpensation . . 
Accretion of beneticial conversion feature 

associatcd with Series Ii Prefcmcd Shares and 
warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Aceletion on preferred stock and related 
dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Issuance of  cornmon stock pursuant to accrucd 
dividends on convertible preferred stock. . . .  

Issuancc crf common stock pursuant to 
conversion ol'convcrtible prcl'crrcd stock . . .  

lssuance of common stock pursuant to initial 
public offering, net of expenses . . . . . . . . .  

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Balancc at Decernbcr 3 1 ,  2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Issuance of common slock upon exercise of 
options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Issuance of  conlrnon stock upon cashless 
exercise of warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Anicmization of dcferrcd stock compcnsalioti . . 
Tax benefit for exercise of diacjualified stuck 

options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Ncl income 

Balance at Dcccmber 31, 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

See trcco~nyunjing notes. 
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BLACKBOARD INC . 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Cash flows from operating activities Net (loss) income 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by opcrating activities 

DeScrred tax bcncfit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Depreciation and amortization 

Amortization of intangibles resulling from acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Change in allowance for doubtful accounts 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Noncash deferred stock cotnpensalion 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities. net of effect of acquisitions: 

Accounts rcccivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred cost or revenues 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Accounts payahle 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Accrued expenses 
Deferred rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Dcfcrred rcvenucs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Nct cash providcd by opcrating activities 
Cash flows from investing activities 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Purchase of propcrty and equipment 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Purchase of held-to-maturity securities 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Sale of held-to-maturity securities 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Purchase of available-for-sale sccurities 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Sale of available-for-sale securities 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Payments for mergcr costs (WebCT. Inc.) 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Acquisition of business. net of cash acquired 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Net cash used in investing activities 
Cash flows from financing activities 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Proceeds from equipnlcnt notes 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Payrnenls on equipment notcs 

Proceeds froni issuance of common stock pursuant to initial public offering. net of 
expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Proceeds froni line of crcdtt 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Payments on line or credit 

Paymcnts on note payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Proceeds li-om issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise of warrants . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Procecds from exercise of stock options 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 
Net increase (dccrcase) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Cash and cash cquivalents at beginning of ycar . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Cash and cash equivalents at end of ycar 

Supplemental cash flow information 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Cash paid for interest 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Cash paid for income taxes 
Prcfcrrcd stock dividends and accretion of convertible redeemable preferred stock . . . . .  

Year Ended December 31. 
2003 2004 2005 --- 

(In thousands) 

$ (1, 425) $ 10, 049 $ 41, 853 

See accompanying notes . 



BLACKBOARD INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31,2004 and 2005 

1. Nature of Business and Organization 

Blackboard Inc. (the Company) is an enterprise software company for the education markets. The 
Company's suites of products include the following five products: Bluckbourd Learning System, Blackboard 
Community System, Blackbourd Content Syrrem, Blackboard Trunsuction System and Bluckbourd One. 

The Company began operations in 1997 as a limited liability company in Delaware. In 1998, the 
Company was incorporated in Delaware, merged with the limited liability corporation and is now a C 
corporation for tax purposes. 

On April 23, 2004, the Company effected a one-for-two reverse stock split of all common stock 
outstanding. In addition, the Company increased the number of shares of authorized common stock to 
40,000,000. On May 26, 2004, the Company effected a one-for-1.0594947 reverse stock split of all common 
stock outstanding. The accompanying consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect to the reverse 
stock splits for all periods presented. Upon consummation of the Company's initial public offering, the 
Company adopted its Fourth Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which increased the number of shares of 
authorized common stock to 200,000,000. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation. The 
Company consolidater investments where it has a controlling financial interest as defined by Accounting 
Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 5 1, "Consolidut~d Financinl Stutemmrs" as amended by Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 94, "Consolrdution of all Majority-Owned Subsidiaries". The usual 
condition for controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority of the voting interest and, therefore, as a 
general rule ownership, direc~ly or indirectly, oS more than filiy percent of the outstanding voting shares is a 
condition pointing towards consolidation. For investments in variable interest entities, as defined by Financial 
Statement Accounting Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidution of Vuriuble Interest Entities" 
(FIN 46), the Company would consolidate when it is determined to be the primary beneficiary of a variable 
interest entity. For those investments in entities where the Company has significant influence over operations, 
but where the Company neither has a controlling financial interest nor is the primary beneficiary of a variable 
interest entity, the Company follows the equity method of accounting pursuant to Accounting Principles 
Bulletin (APB) Opinion No. 18, "The Equity Method of Account~ng .for Investments in Comtnon Stock". 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expense5 during the reporling period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Reclassifications 

Certain amounts in the prior yews' financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current 
year presentation. 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures about Fair Vulue of Fin~inciul Instruments", requires disclosures of fair 
value rnforrnation about financial instruments. whether or not recognized in the balance sheet, for which it is 
practicable to estimate that value. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements approximate the fair value for cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible into cash and have 
original maturities of three months or less. 

Short-term Investments 

All investments with original maturities of greater than 90 days are accounted for in accordance with 
SFAS No. 1 15, "Accounting for Certain Invastmer?ts in Debt und Equity Securities." The Company determines 
the appropriate classification at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet 
date. Held-to-maturity securities are staled at amortized cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums and 
accre~ion of discounts to maturity under the effective interest method. Such amortization is recorded as interest 
income. Interest on held-to-maturity securities is recorded as interest income. Available-for-sale securities are 
carried at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses, if' any, reported in other comprehensive income. 
Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale 
securities are recorded as other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations. At December 31, 
2005, the Company held $62.6 million in short-term investments which consisted of $23.5 million in 
government agency bonds, which are classified as held-to-maturity and $39.1 million in auction rate securities, 
which are classified as available-for-sale. The Company's investments in these auction rate securities are 
recorded at cost which approximates market due to their variable interest rates which reset approximately 
every 30 days. As such, the underlying maturities of these investments as of December 31, 2005 range from 
approximately 20 to 38 years. Despite the long-term nature of their stated contractual maturities, there is a 
readily liquid market Tor these securities and, therefore, these securities have been classified as short-term. 

Restricted Cash 

At December 3 1, 3004 and 2005, $553,000 and $529,000, respectively, of cash was pledged as collateral 
on outstanding letters of credit related to office space lease obligations and is included in prepaid expenses 
and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Concentration yf Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to signilkant concentrations of credit risk 
consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable. The Company 
deposits its cash with financial institutions that the Company considers to be of high credit quality. 

With respect to accounts receivahle, the Company performs ongoing evaluations of its customers, 
generally grants uncollaterali/ed credit terms to its customers, and maintains an allowance for doubtful 
accounls based on historical experience and management's expectations of future losses. As of and for the 
years ended December 3 1 ,  2004 and 2005, there were no significant concentrations with respect to the 
Company's consolidated revenues or accounts receivable. 
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The Company recognized revenue for products and professional services provided to an investor of 
$2,973,000 and $3,860,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. This investor did 
not hold any of the Company's stock during 2005. 

Deferred Income Thxes 

Deferred tax assets and habiliues are determined based on temporary differences between the financial 
reporting bases and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are also recognized for tax net 
operating loss carryhrwards. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates 
and laws that will be in effect when such amounts are expected to reverse or be utilized. The realization of 
~otal  deferred tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income. Valuation allowances are 
provided to reduce such deferred tax assets to amounts more likely than not to be ultimately realized. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out method. 

Property and Eqz~ipnzent 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Deprecialion and amortization are calculated on the straight- 
line method over the following estimated useful lives of the assets: 

Computer and office equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 years 
Software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2 years 
Furniture and fixtures. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 to 5 years 
Leasehold improvements. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Shorter of lease tenn or useful life 

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of 
the assets: 

Acquired technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 years 
Contracts and customer lists. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 to 5 years 
Non-compete agreemenls . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Term of agreement 
'Trademarks and domain names . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 years 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. 
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of any asset 
to future net undiscounted cash tlows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be 
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the future disco~mted cash flows compared to the 
carrying amount of the asset. 

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue 

The Company's revenues ate derived from the Sollowing sources: ( I )  Products - which includes sofiware 
licenses, hardware, support and maintenance and hosting fees, and (2) Professional services - which includes 
training and consulting services. 
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The Company recognizes software license and maintenance revenues in accordance with the American 
Institute oS Certified Public Accountants' (AICPA) Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, "Sofiware Revetzue 
Recognition" (SOP 97-2), as modified by SOP 98-9, "Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recogni- 
tion, with Respect to Certain Trunsuctions". 

Software licensing and maintenance revenues generally represent the sale of licenses for the Company's 
software, which does not require significant modification and customization services. For software licensing 
sales not requiring significant modification and customization services and where professional services are not 
essential to the functionality of the software, the Company recogni~es software licensing revenues when all of 
the following criteria are met: ( 1 )  persuasive evtdence ol' an arrangement exists, (2) delivery and acceptance. if 
required, has occurred, (3) the fee is fixed and determinable and (4) collectibility is probable. The Company 
does not have vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value for its maintenance services. 
Accordingly, when licenses are sold in conjunction with the maintenance services, the license and maintenance 
revenues are recognited over the term of the maintenance service period. Support and maintenance revenues 
include soflware patches, unspecified enhancements and upgrades (when and i l  available), and telephone 
support. The Company recognizes revenue for hosting arrangements, including set-up fees, over the term of 
the hosting period. 

The Company sells two different types of hardware: hardware that is sold in conjunction with the 
Company's software licenses and hardware sold without software (generally the resale of third party 
hardware). After any and all installation services are performed, hardware revenues are recognized when all of 
the rollowing criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2)  delivery and acceptance, if 
required, has occurred; (3) the fee is fixed and determinable; and (4) collectibility is probable. The Company 
does not have VSOE of fair value for hardware that is ?old in conjunction with software licenses. Accordingly, 
when hardware is sold in conjunction with software licenses and maintenance bervices, all revenues are 
recogni~ed over the tern1 of the maintenance service period. Professional services revenues, which are 
substantially time and materials related, consist of training, impletnentation and installation services and are 
recognized as the services are provided. 

Advance payments are recorded as deferred revenue untd the product is shipped, services are delivered, 
or obligations are met. Deferred revenue represents the difference between amounts invoiced and amounts 
recognized as revenues. The Company provides nonspecified upgrades of its product only on a when-and-if- 
available basis. Any contingencies, such as rights of return, conditions of acceptance, warranties and price 
protection, are accounted for under SOP-97-2. The effect of accounting for these contingencies included in 
revenue arrangen~ents has not been material. 

Cost of Revenues uand Dejierred Cost of Revenues 

Cost of revenues include all direct materials, direct labor, and those indirect costs related to revenue such 
as indirect labor, materials and supplies, equipment rent, and amortization of software developed internally and 
soitware license nghts. Cost of product revenues excludes amorti~ation of acquired technology intangibles 
resulting from acquisitions, which is included as amortization of intangibles acquired in acquisitions. 
Amortization expense related to acquired technology for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 was 
$3,467,000 and $1,567,000, respectively. There was no amortization expense related to acquired technology 
for the year ended December 31, 2005 as the related assets were fully amortized at the end of 2004. The 
Company does not have transactions in which the deferred costs of revenues exceed deferred revenues. 

Deferred cost of revenues represent the cost of hardware (if sold as part of a complete system) and 
soStware that is purchaxd and has been sold in conjunction with the Company's products. These costs are 
recognized as costs of revenues proportionally and over the same period that deferred revenue is recognized as 
revenues in accordance with SAB Topic 13. 
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Software Develipntent Costs 

Software developnmt costs are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, 
at which time such costs are capitalized to the extent that  he capitalizable costs do not exceed the realizable 
value of such costs, until the product is available for general release to customers. The Company defines the 
establishment of technological feasibility as the completion of all planning, designing, coding and testing 
activities that are necessary to establish products that meet design specifications including functions, features 
and technical performance requirements. Under the Company's definition, establishing technological feasibility 
is considered complete only after the majority of client testing and feedback has been incorporated into 
product functionality. As of December 3 1, 2004 and 2005, the Company has capitalized software of 
$1,796,000 and $2,394,000, respectively, which is amortized over two years. The Company anlortized 
$634,000, $457,000 and $386,000 for the years ended December 3 1, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. 
Capitalized software is included in property and equipment in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Advertising 

The Company expenses advertising as incurred. Advertising expense was $234,000, $338,000 and 
$834,000 for the years ended December 3 1, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. 

Accounting f i r  Stock-Bused Cumnpensution 

SFAS No. 123, "Accoutititzg Jbr Stock-Based Compensation" (SFAS 123), as amended by SFAS No. 148, 
"Acrounring for Stock-Ba~ed Compensation - Trunsiticm and Disclosure, un urnenllln~rnt of SFAS No. 123", 
allows companies to account for stock-based compensation using either the provisions of SFAS 123 or the 
provisions oT APB No. 25. "Accountiti~ for Stock issued to En~p1oyee.s" (APB No. 25), but requires pro forma 
disclosure in the notes to the financial statements as if the measurement provisions of SFAS 123 had been 
adopted. The Company accounts for its stock-based employee compensation in accordance with APB No, 25. 
Stock-based compensation related to options granted to nonemployees is accounted for using the fair value 
method in accordance with the SFAS 123 and EITF 96-18, "Accounting for Equity Instrirnzents That Are 
Issued to Other Thnta E r n p l o y ~ s  for Acqujrin~, or in Conjunction wzth Selling, Goods or Services". 
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The following table illustrates the effect of net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders and net 
(loss) income attributable to common stockholders per common share if the Company had applied the fair 
value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation. 

Year Ended December 31, 
2003 2004 2005 --- 

(In thousands 
except per share amounts) 

Pro forma net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders: 
As reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $(11,502) $ 3,705 $4 1,853 
Add: Stock-based compensation included in reported net (loss) 

income attributable to common stockholders. . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 19 174 75 
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under 

fair value-based method for all awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (2.942) (4,387) (6,031) --- 
Pro forrna net (loss) income attributable to colnnion stockholders. . 

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders per 
common share: 

Basic as reported. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2.09) $ 0.23 $ 1.57 --- --- 

Diluted as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2.09) $ 0.2 1 $ 1.47 --- --- 

Basic - pro fonna . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2.56) $ (0.03) $ 1.34 --- --- 
Diluted - . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  proforma 

The effect of applying SFAS 123 on pro forma net (loss) income attr~butable to cornnlon stockholders as 
stated above is not necessarily representative of the effects on reported net (loss) income attributable to 
co~nmon stockholders for future years due to, among other things, the vesting period of the stock options and 
the fair value of additional optlons to be granted in the future years. 

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2003, 2004 and 2005 was $6.59, $6.88 and 
$8.95, respectively. The fair value of each option is eslimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model with the following assumptions used for grants issued during the years ended 
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005: 

Year Ended December 31, 
2003 2004 2005 --- 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 
Expected volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  85% 64.8% 47.4% 
Average risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3.00% 3.25% 4.00% 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Expected term. 5 years 5 years 5 years 

Basic and Diluted Net (Loss) Income Attributable to Common Stockholders per Common Share 

Basic net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders per common share excludes dilution for 
potential cornrnvn stock issuances and is computed by dividing net (loss) income attributable to common 
stockholders by  he weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net (loss) 
income at~ributable ro common stockholders per cornmon share reflects the potenlial dilution that could occur 
if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into cotnnlon stock. 
Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock, stock options and warrants were not considered in the 
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computation of diluted net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders per common share for the year 
ended December 31, 2003 as their effect is anti-dilutive. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing 
basic and diluted net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders per common share: 

Year Ended December 31, 
2003 2004 200.5 

(In thoirsands, except share and per share amounts) 

Basic net (loss) income attributable to common 
stockholders per common share: 

Net income (loss). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (1,425) $ 10,049 $ 41,853 
Less preferred stock dividends: 

. . . . . . . . . . . .  Redeemable convertible preferred stock (10,077) (6,344) - 

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockholders 
per common share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (11,502) $ 3,705 $ 41,853 

Weighted average shares outstanding. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Basic net (loss) income attributable to common 
stockholders per common share. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (2.09) $ 0.23 

Diluted net (loss) income attrib~~table to common 
stockholders per common share: 

Net (loss) income atlributable to colnmon stockholders 
per common share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (1 1.502) $ 3,705 

Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding . . 5 3  16,476 l6,07 1,598 
Dilutive effect oC: 
Stock options related to the purchase of common 

stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - 1,591,412 
Warrants related to the purchase of cornnlon stock . . . .  - 201,127 

Diluted shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,s 16,476 17,864,137 28,509,777 

Diluted net (loss) income attributable to common . , 

. . . . . .  stockholders per common share. 

Segment In formation 

The Company currently operates in one business segment; namely the development, commercialization 
and implementation of software products and related services. 'The Company evaluates its market opportunities 
by referring to the U.S. postsecondary education market, U.S. elementary and secondary market, or K-12, 
education market, and the international postsecondary education market. The Company is not organized by 
market and is managed and operated as one business. A single management team that reports to the chief 
operating decision maker co~nprehensively manages the entire business. The Company does not operate any 
material separate lines of business or separate business entities with respect to its products or product 
development. Accordingly, the Company does not accumulate discrete financial information with respect to 
separate product lines and does not have separately reportable segments as defined by SFAS No. 13 1, 
"Disclosure ahout Segn~ents of an Enterprise und Related Informatio~z". 
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Substantially all of the Company's Inaterial identifiable assets are located in the United States. Revenues 
derived from international sales were $1 2.5 million, $1 6.11 million and $21.9 million for the years ended 
December 3 1, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Substantially all international sales are denominated in 
US.  dollars. 

Recent Accounting Pronouucenents 

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Bused 
Puyment" (SFAS 123(R)), which is a revision of SFAS 123. SFAS 123(R) supersedes APB No. 25, and 
amends FASB Statement No. 95, "Statenzent o j  Cash Flows." Generally the approach in SFAS 123(R) is 
similar to the approach described in SFAS 123. However, SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to 
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the statements of operations based 
on their fair values. Pro fonna disclosure is no longer an alternative upon adopting SFAS 123(R). 

The Company will adopt SFAS 123(R) on January I, 2006. SFAS 123(R) permits public companies to 
adopt its requirements using one of two methods: 

A "modified prospective" method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the 
effective dale (a) based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after 
the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all awards granted to 
employees prior to the effective date of SFAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date. 

A "modified retrospective" method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method 
described above, but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized under 
SFAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures for either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior 
interim periods of the year of adoption. 

The Company will implement SFAS 123(R) in the first quarter of 2006 and intends to use the modified 
prospective method. The Company expects the adoption lo result in the recognition of stock-based compensa- 
tion expense of approximately $5.5 million for options granted prior to January 1, 2006 plus the expense 
related to options granted during 2006. The expense for options granted during 2006 cannot be determined at 
this time due to the uncertainty of the Con~pany's stock price, the related Black-Scholes fair value and the 
timing of I'uture grants. 

Cornprehensive Net (Loss) Income 

Comprehensive net (loss) income includes net (loss) income, combined with unrealized gains and losses 
not included in earnings and rellected as a separate component of stockholders' (deficit) equity. There were no 
differences between net (loss) income and comprehensive net (loss) income for the years ended December 3 1, 
2003, 2004 and 2005. 

3. Business Combinations 

SA Cash 

On January 31, 2003, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of SA Cash, a division of 
Student Advantage, Inc., for $4,500,000 rn cash and assumed net liabilities of $467,000, for total purchase 
consideration of $4,967,000. The assets acquired from SA Cash enabled students to conduct off-campus debit 
card transactions wilh local campus merchants. The Company purchased these assets to add to its commerce 
suite ol'ferings, all o l  which are based on a common sludent transaction card. The acquisition was accounted 
for as a purchase and, accordingly, the results of operations have been included in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations since the eflective date of the acquisition. The Company performed an 
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analysis of the fair values of the identifiable intangible assets acquired in the transaction. The value attributed 
to the identil'iable intangible assets acquired included $1,329,000 in customer lists and $3,638,000 in goodwill, 
The customer lists are included in intangible assets (see Note 6) and are being amortized over five years. 

Due LO the January 2003 date of the acquisition of SA Cash, the pro f o m a  results of operations for the 
year ended December 31, 2003 are materially the same as those presented in the Company's consolidated 
statements of operations. 

Proposed Merger with WebCT, Inc. 

On October 12, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger with WebCT, Inc. 
(WebCT), and one of the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries which contemplates  hat the Company will 
acquire WebCT for a purchase price of $180.0 m~llion in cash, less spec~fied expenses and other adjustments 
set forth in the agreement through the merger of  the Company's subsidiary with WebCT. On February 6, 2006, 
the Company announced that ~t had recelved regulatory clearance from the U.S. Department of Justice to 
complete the transaction. Completion of the transaction remains subject to customary closing conditions 

If the merger is consummated, the Company would pay the purchase price using a combination of its 
available working capital and financing vehicles to be provided pursuant 10 a $80.0 million senior secured 
credit facilities commitment letter with Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch (Credit Suisse). The commit- 
ment letter provides for a $70.0 million senior secured term loan facility repayable over six years and a 
$10.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility due and payable in full at the end of five years. If the 
facilities are rated at or above the ratings threshold set forth in the commitment letter, the interest on the 
facililies will accrue at one of the following rates selected by the Company (a) adjusted LIBOR plus 2.25%- 
2.50% or (b) an alternate base rate plus 1.25%-1.50%. If the facilities are rated below such ratings threshold, 
the interest on the facilities will accrue and be payable quarterly in arrears at one of the following rates 
selected by the Company (a) adjusted LIBOK plus 2.50%-2.75% or (b) alternate base rate plus 1.50%-1.75%. 
The alternate base rate is the higher of Credit Suisse's prime rate and the federal funds effective rate plus 
0.5%. In addition, the Company has agreed to "flex" terms, allowing Credit Suisse to alter specified provisions 
of the facilides, including but not limited to the interest rate, il' advisable to ensure a successful syndication of 
the facilities. 

Under the terms of the comrnitmenl letter, the credit facilities would be guaranteed by all of the 
Company's domestic subsidiaries and secured by perfected first priority security interests in, and mortgages 
on, substantially all of the Con~pany's tangible and intangible assets (including the capital stock of each 
specil'ied subsidiary) and each of the Company's subsidiaries. In addition, the facilities would contain 
customary negative covenants applicable to the Conlpany and its subsidiaries with respect to itc operations and 
financial condition. 

Under the agreement and plan of merger, the Company and WebCT each have a termination right if a 
court or governmental agency has issued a final, non-appealable order preventing the consummation of the 
merger. In addi~ion, il'the agreement and plan or  merger is terminated other than by mutual consent or as a 
result of a breach by WebCT, the Cotnpany would be required to pay WebCT $15.0 nlillion in liquidated 
damages. 

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had incurred $4.9 million in costs related to this merger with 
WebCT. These costs are classified as defersed merger costs on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. 
When and if the merger is completed, these costs will be included as part of the purchase price allocation. The 
Con~pany will perform an analysis of the fair values of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired 
In the transaction which will be amortized or depreciated as appropriate. 
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4. Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following: 
December 31, 

2004 2005 - - 
(In thousands) 

Raw materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 395 $ 700 
Work-in-process . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5 18 45 1 
Finished goods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,08 1 655 - - 

Total inventories. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $1,994 $1,806 - - - - 

5. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following: 
December 3 1, 

2004 2005 - - 
(In thousands) 

Computer and office equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 19,201 $24,394 
Software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9,196 11,347 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Furniture and rixtures 539 599 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Leasehold improvements. 1,31 1 1,866 - - 

30,247 38,206 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (21,399) (28,266) - - 

Total property and equipment, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 8,848 $ 9,940 - - - - 

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 3 1, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was 
$3,9 11,000, $6,275,000 and $6,867,000, respectively. 

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets consist of the following: 
December 31, 

2004 2005 - - 
(In thousands) 

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 10,252 $ 10,252 - - - - 
Acquired technology. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 10,400 $ 10,400 

Contracts and customer lists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,443 5,443 
Non-compete agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,043 2,043 
Trademarks and domain names. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7 1 7 1 - - 

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17,957 17,957 - - 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Less accumulated amortization - (1 7,13 1) - (1 7,397) 

Intangible assets, nel. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 826 $ 560 
- - 

Amortization of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2006. 2007 and 2008 is expected to 
be $266,000, $266,000 and $28,000. respectively. 
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The Company has chosen October I as the date to perform its annual impairment analysis under 
SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill und 0thr.r Intnngihlc. Assets". 

7. Debt 

Working Capital and Equipment Lines 

On April 30, 2005, the Company's working capital line expired by its terms. Based on the Company's 
current cash position, which includes the net proceeds from its initial public offering in June 2004 and historic 
positive cash flows from operations, the Company elected not to renew the working capital line of credit. 

As of December 31, 2004, $762,000 was outstanding on the equipment lines of credit. During 2005, the 
Company repaid all alnounls outstanding on the equipment lines of credit. As of December 3 1, 2005, the 
Company had no outstanding debt. 

Note Payable 

In connection with the acquisition of Prometheus in January 2002. the Co~npany entered into a 
$3,000,000 note payable with The George Washington Univecsily. The note payable accrued interest at 6.5%, 
payable quarterly. Three $1,000,000 principal payments, including accrued interest, were due in July 2003, 
January 2004 and July 2004. As of December 3 I ,  2004, the Company had no further payments due to The 
George Washington University. 

8. Convertible Preferred Stock 

The Company completed an initla1 public offering (PO) in June 2004 (see Note 9). Upon the closing of 
the IPO, 13,371,980 shares ol' common stock were issued upon conversion of all of the Company's outstanding 
preferred stock and 2,414,857 shares of common stock were issued in satisfaction of accrued dividends on the 
Company's preferred stock. 

Issuances 

During December 2000, the Company issued Series D Warrants to purchase 962,711 shares of the 
Company's Series D Preferred Stock at an exercise price oS $3.27 per share to some of its investors for 
guaranteeing a line of credit. The Series D Warrants were exercisable immediately. As of December 31, 2004, 
256,009 shares of common stock were reserved for- future issuance upon exercise of Series D Warrants 
assuming a conversion ratio of 2.1 189894-to- 1 into the Company's common stock. During 2005, the Company 
~ssued 178,574 shares of common stock upon cashless exercises of Series D warrants held by certain 
stockholders. A3 of December 31. 2005, no Series D warrants are outstanding. 

In  April 2001. the Company increased the number of authorized shares of its preferred stock to 
30,000,000. Also during April 2001, the Company issued 9.468,309 shares of Series E and warrants for the 
purchase of 3,3 13,907 of Series E (Series E Warrants) for total net proceeds of $5 1,373,000. The Series E 
Warrants had an exercise price of $0.01 and became exercisable in 2002, subject to certain restrictions as 
defined in the Series E Warrants. The Company allocated $38,682,000 of the proceeds from this offering to 
the Series E and $ 1  3,528,000 lo Series E Warrants based on their relative fair value. Beneficial conversion 
features of $3,073,421 and $1,052,870 were calculated based on the difSerence between the accounting 
conversion price of the Series E and Series E Warrants, respectively, and the fair value of common stock at the 
commitment date. The Company accreted the discounts resulting from recording the beneficial conversion 
features from the date of issuance to the redemption date of the Series E. Accretion of the discount resulting 
from recording the beneficial conversion feature related to the Series E amounted to $61 5,000 and $1,409,000 
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in 2003 and 2004, respectively. Accretion of the discount resulting from recording a beneficial conversion 
feature related 10 the Series E Warrants amounted to $210,000 and $366,000 in 2003 and 2004, respectively 

The Company incurred $837,000 of issuance costs related to the Series E. The Company accreted 
$3,077,000 and $998,000, from the Series E Warrants to the Series E in 2003 and 2004, respectively. Effective 
with the issuance of the Series E, the redemption dale for the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, par value 
$0.01 per share (Series B), Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (Series C), and 
Series D was extended to July 10, 2006. The redemption dale for the Series E was April 6, 2006. 

Series A Preferred Stock 

Each share of the Company's Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (Series- 
A) was convertible, at the option of the holder, into common stock at any time at a conversion ratio of 
2.1 189894-to-l. The conversion ratio was subject to adjustment for events such as a stock split, stock dividend 
or an issuance of stock. The holders of the Series A were entitled to receive, when and if declared by the 
Board of Directors, dividends at a rate of $0.05 per preferred share per annum issuable upon conversion of the 
Series A until dividends due to the holders of the Series B, C, D and E had been paid. 

The Series A had a deemed liquidation provision included among the rights given to its holders whereby, 
upon a sale of the Conlpany or substantially all of the Company's assets, the holders of the Series A were to 
receive a cash payment equal to the liquidation preference. In the event of any liquidation or winding up of 
the Company, the holders of Series A were entitled to a liquidation preference before the Company's common 
stock but after Series B, C, D and E. The liquidation preference equaled the original face amount plus any 
accrued and unpaid dividends which have been declared. 

Each share of Series A automatically converted into shares of common stock immediately prior to the 
closing of the Company's 1PO. At the time of the IPO, all accrued and unpaid dividends were paid-in-kind 
with shares of the Company's common stock valued at the public offering price per share 

Series B, C, D arid E Preferred Stock 

Each share of Series B, C, D and E was convertible, at the option of the holder, into shares of the 
Company's common stock al the respective conversion price which was subject to adjustment for events such 
as a stock split, stock dividend or certain issuances of securities. The Series B, C, D and E shares were 
convertible 2.1 189894-10-1 into the Company's coinnlon stock. 

Holders of Series B, voting as a single class, were entitled to elect two directors of the Company as long 
as at least 2,512,967 shares of Series B remain issued and outstanding. Holders of Series C and D, voting as a 
single class, were entilled to elect one director of the Company. Holders of Series E, voting as a single class, 
were entitled to elect one director of the Company as long as at least 25% of the Series E issued remained 
outstanding. 

The Series B, C and D accrued dividends at the rate of 8.0% per share per annum. The Series E accrued 
and compounded quarterly dividends at the rate of 8.0% per annum of the original shareholder investment. 
These dividends were payable quarterly, when and if declared, and were equal to the total accrued and unpaid 
dividends prior to any div~dend payments to the Series A, B, C or D. The holders of the Series B, C and D 
were entitled to receive quarterly dividend payments, when and if declared, equal to the total accrued and 
unpaid dividends prior to any dividend payments to the Series A. 

In the event of any liquidation or winding up of the Company, or the merger or combination of the 
Company with another entity, unless consented to by a majority of the Series E holders, the holders of Series E 
were entitled to a liquidalion preference over holders of all other series of preferred and common stock. The 
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holders of the Series B, C and D were pari passu and had a preference over the Series A and common 
stockholders. 

The liquidation preference for the Series B, C, D and E equaled the amount paid per share upon issuance 
of such shares plus any accrued and unpaid dividends thereon. Series B, C and D also participaled so that, 
after payment of the original purchase price plus unpaid dividends to the holders of Series E together with 
holders of any other series of prefel~ed stock, the remaining assets would be distributed on a pro-rata basis to 
all shareholders on a common equivalent share basis, subject to certain limitations. 

The Series B, C, D and E had mandatory redemption provisions. These shares were redeemable in 
amounts equal to the original investment plus accrued dividends. The Series B, C, D and E were accreted to 
the redemption date. 

Each share of Series 13, C ,  D and E automatically converted into shares of common stock immediately 
prior to the closing of the Company's IPO. At the time of the IPO, all accrued and unpaid dividends were 
paid-in-kind with shares of the Company's common stock valued at the public offering price per share. 

9. Common Stock 

During January 2002, the Company issued 5 12,959 shares of common stock, in connection wilh the 
acquisition of Prometheus, to The George Washington University. In October 2002 and April 2003, the 
Company issued an additional 7,203 and 666 shares of common stock, respectively, to The George Washington 
University p~lrsuant to an antidilution provision in the Prometheus sales agreement and as a result of the 
exercises of certain Series E Warrants i n  connection with the Company's IPO. In April 2004, the Con~pany 
issued an additional 27,447 shares under this agreement. As of December 3 1 ,  2004, the Company is not 
obligated to issue any more shares under this agreement. 

During March 2003, the Company increased the authorized number of common stock shares to 
30,000.000. 

On June 16, 2004, the Company issued 21,372 shares of common stock upon exercise of common 
warrants held by a certain stockholder. 

The Company completed its IPO of 6,325,000 shares of coinmon stock on June 23, 3004, which included 
the underwriter's over-allotment option exercise of 825,000 shares of common stock. Of the 6,325,000 shares 
of common stock sold in the IPO, 2,251,062 s h a m  were sold by selling shareholders and 4,073,938 shares 
were sold by the Company, generating approximately $50,986,000 in proceeds to the Company, net of offering 
expenses and ~~nderwriters discounts. Upon closing of the IPO, 13,371,980 shares of common stock were 
issued upon conversion of the Company's preferred stock and 2,414,857 shares of common stock were issued 
in satisfaction of accrued dividends on the Company's preferred stock. 

Upon the closing of the IPO, the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation became 
effective. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorized common stock of 
200,000,000 shares and authorized 5,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. No shares of preferred 
stock were outstanding at December 3 1, 2004, 

On June 23, 2004, in connection with the IPO, the Company issued 1,199,334 shares of common stock 
upon cashless exercises of Series E warrants held by certain stockholders. 

On June 30, 2004, the Company issued 23,802 shares of common stock upon a cashless exercise of 
Series D warrants held by a certain stockholder. 

In August 2004, the Company issued 110,997 shares of common stock upon cashless exercises of Series D 
warrants held by certain stockholders. 
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During 2005, the Company ~ssued 178,574 shares of common stock upon cashless exercises of Series D 
warrants held by certain stockholders. As of December 3 1, 2005, there are no Series D warrants outstanding. 

During 2005, the Company issued 2,227 shares of common stock upon exercise of common warrants held 
by a certain stockholder. As of December 3 1, 2005, there are no common wmants outstanding. 

10. Stock Option Plan 

In January 1998, the Company adopted a stock option plan in order to provide an incentive to eligible 
employees, consultants, directors and officers of the Company. In March 2003, the Company increased the 
number of shares of common stock reserved under the stock option plan by 505,776 shares to 4,563,035 shares. 
As of December 3 1, 2005, 2,561,877 shares of common stock were reserved under the stock option plan. 
Shares of common stock available for distribution pursuant to stock options outstanding under the stock option 
plan were 2,245,146 as of December 31, 2005. Stock options granted under the stock option plan generally 
vesl over a four-year period and have a ten year expiration period. Shares available for future grant as of 
December 31, 2005 were 3 16,731, however no future grants will be made under this plan. 

I n  March 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan in which 1,887,692 shares of 
cornmon stock are reserved under the plan. During 2005, the Company increased the number of shares of 
common stock reserved under the stock option plan by 463,808 shares to 2,350,000 shares. The Company's 
olficers, employees, directors, outside consultants and advisors are eligible to receive grants under the plan. 
The plan expires February 2014. As of December 3 1, 2005, 2,314,790 shares of common stock were reserved 
under the stock option plan. Shares of comlnon stock available for distribution pursuant to stock options 
outstanding under the stock option plan were 1,098,983 as of December 31, 2005. Stock options granted under 
the stock option plan generally vest over a three-year period and have a eight year expiration period. Shares 
ava~lable for future grant as of December 31, 2005 were 1,215,807. 

A summary of the status of the Con~pany's stock option plans is presented below for the years ended 
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005: 

Weighted-Average 
Shares Exercise Price 

Options outstanding at December 3 1 ,  2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3.57 1,508 9.01 
Options granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  571,567 9.66 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Options exercised. (33,298) 5.85 
Options forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (6 16,686) 10.09 

Options outstanding at December 3 1 ,  2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Options granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Options exerased : 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Options forfeited 

Options o~rtstanding at December 31, 2004. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Options granted 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Options exercised. 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Options forfeited 

Options outstanding at December 3 1,  2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,343,312 13.06 

Options exercisable at December 31, 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,903,411 10.33 
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For various price ranges, weighted average characteristics of outstanding and exercisable options as of 
December 3 1 ,  2005 were as follows: 

Outstanding Options 
Weighted Average 

Remaining Life 
Range of Exercise Prices Sharrs (Ycars) 

$0.02-$8.7 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  149,798 2.57 
$8.72-$10.8 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,606,304 6.5 1 

$10.87-$14.00 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  328,532 8.44 
$14.01-$19.88 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  994,658 6.94 
$19.89-$3 1.34 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  264,020 7.79 

3,343,312 

Weighted 
Average 

Price 

$1.332 
9.57 

14.00 
17.19 
24.27 

Exercisable Options 
Weighted 
Average 

Shares Price 

In certain instances, the Company has determined that the fair value of the underlying common stock on 
the date of grant was in excess of the exercise price of the options. As a result, the Company recorded 
deferred compensalion on these stock options of approximately $1 8,000 and $279,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, as an increase in additional paid-in capital and is amortizing it as a 
charge to operations over the vesting periods of four years. The Company recognized stock compensation 
expense related to those stock optlons of $68,000, $105,000 and $75,000 for the years ended December 3 1, 
2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. The Company recognized $5,000 and $69,000 in stock compensation 
expense related to options issued to nonemployees for the years ended December 3 1 ,  2003 and 2004, 
respectively. 

During 2003, the Company modified the stock option awards for certain individuals by modifying the 
terms of their agreements at the time they separated liom the Company. The Company remeasured these 
options and recognized compensalion expense of $245,000 for these modifications in 2003. There were no 
remaining unvested options as of December 3 1, 2004 related to lhese individuals. 

11. Income Taxes 

The Company. for the first time in its history, generated cumulative earnings from operations for the 
three-year period ended December 31, 2005. As a result of this positive earnings trend and projected operating 
resul~s in the foreseeable future, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that it would be 
able to generate sufficient taxable income to utilize its United States net operating loss carryforwards, and 
accordingly, reduced its deferred tax asset valuation allowance by approximately $31.6 million. This reduction 
resulted in the recognition of an income tax benefit totaling $14.8 million and an increase in additional 
paid-in-capital of $7.5 million related to tax deductions resulting from the exercise of stock options. The 
Company does not have an established history of earnings related to its international net operating loss 
carryforwards, primarily resulting from our operations in The Netherlands, and therefore these international 
net operating loss carryforwards continue to be fully reserved through a valuation allowance as of 
December 31, 2005. Of the total income tax benefit recognized, approximately $12.2 million related to a 
Federal deferred tax benefit with the remainder representing a state deferred tax benefit. 
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The provision (benefit) fbr income taxes for the years ended December 31 is comprised of the following: 
December 31, 

2003 2004 2005 - - -  
(In thousands) 

Current expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $614 $299 $ 490 
Deferred expense (benefit). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  A A (14,799) - - -  

Provision (benefit) for income taxes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - $6 14 $299 $(14,309) 
- - -  

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Signiricant 
components of the Company's net deferred income taxes are as follows: 

2004 2005 - - 
(In thousands) 

Deferred tax assets (liabilities): 
Net operating loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 23,077 
International net operating loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,334 
Research and development and other tax credits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,030 
Net operating loss attributable to stock option exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  704 
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,139 
Amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,927 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Baddebts 37 1 
Deferred rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 84 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Deferred revenues 1,365 
Deferred cost of revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1,888) (1,772) 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Other accruals and prepaids 1,058 (153) 
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (34,501) (2,856) - - 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ - $22,297 - - - - 

As of December 31, 2005, the Con~pany had net operating loss carryforwards for Federal income tax 
purposes of approximately $40 million. Approxin~ately $3 million of this amount is restricted under 
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code limits the utilization of 
net operating losses when ownership changes, as defined by that section, occur. The Company has performed 
an analysis of its Section 382 ownership changes and has determined that the utilization oC certain of its net 
operating loss carryforwards may be limited. Such limitation will defer the utilization of' approximately 
$3 million of its net operating loss carryforwards, which will be limited to approximately $200,000 per year 
and will expire, if unused, by the end of 2019. Due to [he length of time available to fully urilize the net 
operating loss carryforwards and the likelihood of having sufficient taxable income in those periods, the 
Company believes it is more likely than not that these assets will be realized. 
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The (benefit) provision for income taxes differs from the amount of taxes determined by applying the 
U.S. federal statutory rate to loss (income) before provision for income taxes as a result of the following foor 
the year ended December 3 1 : 

2003 2004 205 - - -  

Federal tax at statutory rates. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  34.0% 34.0% 35.0% 
State taxes, net of federal benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4.6 4.6 4.5 
Change in valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (390.9) (24.5) (87.7) 
Permanent differences. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  276.6 (1 1.2) (3.7) - - -  

(Benefit) provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (75.7)% 3.9% (5  1.9)% - - -  - - -  

The Company is subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. 
Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and recording the 
related assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of the Company's business, there are transactions and 
calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Accruals for tax contingencies are provided for 
in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. 

Although the Company believes it has appropriate support lor [he positions taken on its tax returns, the 
Company has recorded a liability for its best estimate of the probable loss on certain of these positions, which 
is included in accrued expenses on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The Company believes that its 
accruals for tax liabilities are adequate, based on its assessment of many factors including past experience and 
interpretations of tax law applied to the facts of each matter, which matters result primarily from intercompany 
transfer pricing and the amount of research and experinlentation tax credits claimed. Although the Company 
believes its recorded assels and liabilities are reasonable, tax regulations are subject to interpretation and tax 
litigation is inherently uncertain; therefore the Company's assessments can involve both a series of complex 
judgments about future events and rely heavily on estimates and assumptions. Although the Company believes 
that the estimates and assumptions supporting its assessments are reasonable, the final determination of tax 
audits and any related litigation could be materially different than that which is reflected in historical income 
tax provisions and recorded assets and liabilities. Based on the results of' an audit or litigation, there could be 
a material effect on the Company's income tax provision. net income or cash flows in the period or periods 
for which that determination is made. As of December 3 1, 2005, the Company had a tax contingencies accrual 
of approximately $500,000 that i s  included in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. 

12. Commitments and Contingencies 

Total rent expense recorded for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was $3,244,000, 
$3,170,000 and $3,456,000, respectively. Total sublease income recorded for the years ended December 31, 
2003, 2004 and 2005 was $2 12,000, $226,000 and $218,000, respectively. 



BLACKBOARD INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued) 

As of December 3 1 ,  2005, minimum future rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases and 
rental income from subleases are as follows: 

Sub-Lease 
Operating Income -- 

(In thousands) 

2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $3,807 $139 
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,901 131 
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  838 - 

Total mininlum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $8,414 $270 - 

On January 27, 2006, the Company entered into an amendment for its Washington, D.C. lease adding 
additional space and extending the lease term until January 2008, with an option to extend the term to Janua~y 
2013. The Company's annual rental payments will increase by approximately $400,000 per year through 2007 
and by approximately $35,000 for 2008, which is not included in the above table. 

The Company, from time to time, is subject to litigation relating 10 matters in the ordinary course of 
business. The Company believes that any ultimate liability resulting from these contingencies will not have a 
material adverse elTect on the Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows. 

13. Employee Benefit Plans 

In 1999, the Company adopted a 401(k) plan covering all employees of the Company who have met 
certain eligibility requirements. Under the terms of the 401(k) plan, the employees may elect to make tax- 
deferred contributions to the 401(k) plan. In addition, the Company may match employee conlributions, as 
determined by the Board of Directors and may make discretionary contributions to the 401(k) plan. No 
matching or discretionary contributions have been made to the 401(k) plan in 2003, 2004 or 2005. 

During 2005, the Board of Directors approved a matching contribution to the 401(k) plan to be paid in a 
lump-sum to those participating employee accounts in February 2007. The matching contribution will be equal 
to 33% of n participant's 2006 contributions, up to 6% of the participant's salary and IRS limits. Only those 
participants that have one year of service and are employed by the Company a$ of December 3 1, 2006 are 
eligible for the matching contribution. The matching contribulions will vest over a three year graded veqting 
\chedule. All contributions made by employees under the 401(k) plan vest immediately in the participant's 
account. 

14. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) 

The Company's quarterly operating results normally fluctuate as a result of seasonal variations in its 
business, principally due to the timing of client budget cycles and student attendance at client facilities. 
Historically, the Company has had lower new sales in its first and fourth quarters than in the remainder of the 
year. The Company's expenses, however, do no1 vary significantly with these changes and, as a result, such 
expenses do not fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis. Historically, the Company has perfonned a 
disproportionate amount of its professional services, which are recogni~ed as incurred, in its second and third 
quarters each year. The Con~pany expects quarterly fluctuations in operating results to continue as a result of 
the uneven seasonal demand for ~ t s  licenses and services offerings. 



BLACKBOARD INC. 

NOTES TO CONSO1,IDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued) 

March 31, June 30, September 30, Decemher 31, 
2001 2004 2004 3004 -- 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Summary consolidated statenlent of operations: 
Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $25,219 $26,355 $29,776 $30.053 
Costs of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,6 13 8,030 9,191 9,025 
Net loss auributable to common stockholders . . (1,809) (2,698) 3,480 4,732 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders 

per common share: 
Basic. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.33) $ (0.37) $ 0.14 $ 0.18 
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ (0.33) $ (0.37) $ 0.12 $ 0.17 

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, 
2005 2005 2005 2005 -- 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Summary consolidated statement of operations: 
Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $30,942 $37,049 $35,927 $35,746 
Costs of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9,430 9,647 10,240 10,510 
Net income attributable to common 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  stockholders. 5,410 6,063 7,269 23,111 
Net income attributable to comlnon 

stockholders per common share: 
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 0.21 $ 0.23 $ 0.27 $ 0.85 
Diluied . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 0.20 $ 0.21 $ 0.25 $ 0.79 

The Company, for the first time in i t s  history, generated cumulative earnings from operations for the 
three-year period ended December 31, 2005. As a result of this positive earnings trend and projected operating 
results in the foreseeable future, the Company determined that jt was more likely than not that it would be 
able to generate sufficient taxable income to utilize its United States net operating loss carryforwards, and 
accordingly, reduced its deferred tax asset valuation allowailce by approxin~ately $3 1.6 million. This reduction 
resulted in the recognition of an income tax benefit of $14.8 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2005. 



Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item YA. Controls and Procedures. 

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, 
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 3 1, 2005. The term 
"disclosure controls and procedures," as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, 
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or subn~its under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
sum~narized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC'b rules and forms. Disclosure controls 
and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information 
~equired to be disclosed by a company in the reports that il files or submits under the Exchange Act is 
accumulated and co~nmunicated to the company's management, including its principal executive and principal 
financial officers, as appropriate ro allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management 
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in 
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our 
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2005, our chief executive officer and chief financial 
officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable 
assurance level. 

Management's report on our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15(d)-15(f) under the Exchange Act) and the independent registered public accounting firm's related audit 
report are included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference. 

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. 

No change in our internal control over financial repo~ting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) 
under the Exchange Act) occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 3 1, 2005 that has materially 
afrected. or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over linancial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other lnformation. 

None. 

PART TIT 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

The inlormation regarding our executive officers required by this Item is set forth under Item I to this 
annual report. 

The following information will be included in our Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after the 
fiscal year end of December 3 1 ,  2005, and is incorporated herein by reference: 

Information regarding our directors required by this hem is set forth under the heading "Election of 
Directors" 

lnformation regarding our audit committee and designated "audit committee financial experts" is set 
forth under the heading "Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters, Board Structure and 
Committee Composition - Audit Committee" 

Information regarding Section I b(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance is set forth under the 
heading "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporling Compliance" 



Code of Ethics 

We have adopted a code of ethics arid business conduc~ that applies to our employees including our 
principal executive olficcr. principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, and persoris perforrii~ng 
\imilar f~tnctloos. Our code of ethics and l m ~ n e r s  conduct can be found posted in the investor relatio~is 5ection 
on our website at http:Ninvestor.I~lack~~oarcl.cc~~n. 

Item 11. Executive C'unlpe~rsntion. 

'I'hc i~lforrnatiorl requircd hy thi5 Ikni is incorporaled by reference to the information provided undcr thc 
heading "Lxecutive Compensation'' of the Proxy Statement. 

The infortnation required by this Item IS ir~co~porated by reltrence to the iufi)rrnation provided under the 
heading "Security Ownership of Certain Benlelicial Owners and Management" and "bquity Compensation Plari 
Infonnation" of thc Proxy Statement. 

Item 13. Certain Relutiortshr'ps and Related Tmnsactions. 

The ir~formation required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information provided under the 
heading "Ccrtain Kelationships and Kclatcd l'ransactious" of the Proxy Statement. 

1 tern 14. I'rincipal A ccou ltting Fees and Services. 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the infijrrnation provided under the 
heading "Principal Accountant Fee5 and Services" of tlie Proxy Statement. 

PART I V  

Item 15. Exhibits, i;i~lnnciul Statement Scherlirlex 

(a) 1 .  Financial Statements. 
The consolidated financial statements are listed under Item 8 of this report 

2. Financial Statement Schedules. 
Schedule Il -- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

Other financial \tatenlent \chedules as of December 31. 2004 and 2005. and for each of the three 
yzars 111 the period ended December 31, 2005 have been omitted \ince they are eiiher not 
required, not applicable or thc information i5  ottlerwisl: tncludcd in (he conwlidatecl financial 
btaternenls or the notcs to consolidated linanctal qatctnenrs. 

3 Exhibits. 
The Exhibit.; tiled as part of thl\ Annual Report on Form 10-K ale llsted on the Exhibit Index 
imn~ediately pecetling such Exhibits, which Exhihll Index 1s ~ncorporated herein by reference. 

(b) Exhibits -see Item 15(a)(3) almve. 

(c) Financial Statement Schedules - see Item 15(a)(2) ahove. 



BLACKBOARD INC. 

SCHEDULE I1 - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

Allowance fiw Ihubtfid Acccrunts 

ReginniogRalance.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  S 432 $1,018 $ 954 
. . 

Acltlitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,3 12 140 (1,250) 
Keduclions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1,726) ( 5  15) (3 18) 

Other(]) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  - 31 1 1,315 --- 

Ending Balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 1.018 $ 954 $ 701 --- --- 

Certain 1004 balances haw been reclavdied to conform to the 2005 picsentation. 

( I )  Includes the reinstatement and subsequent collections on accounts receivable that were deemed uncollect- 
iblc in prior pcriods 



SIGNATURES 

Pursuant lo the requirements of Seclion 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf bj the under\igned, tfweunto duly 
authorized on the 15'" day of February 2006. 

RLACKROARD INC. 

Purauant to the requlre~r~ents of the Securilie$ Exchange Act of' 1934. this report has been signed below 
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Director 
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Februaiy 15, 7-006 
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1;ebruwy 14, 2000 

February IS, 2006 

February 1 5. 7-006 



EXHIBIT INDEX 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, datcd October 12,2005, by arid among the Registrant, WebC'I', Inc. arid 
College Acq~~is~t ic~n Sub, lnc (9) 
Fourth Regtated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant(4) 

Armended and Restaled Ry-1,aws of the Registrant(4) 

Forrr~ of certificate rcplesenting the \hares of the Kegisirant's common stock(3) 
Amended and Restated Stock hiccntivc Plan, as aniended(1) 

Amended and Restated 2004 Stock lticeritive PladX) 

Employment Ag~eemerrl beiween the Registrant and Mlchael Cliasen dated November 14, 3005(10) 
Enlployment Agreement belween the Registrant and Matthew Pitt~nsky dated November 14, 2005(10) 
EmpXoyment Agreement between the Registrant and Peter Q. Repetti, dated June 1, 7001{2) 
Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Matthew H Small, dated January 26, 2004(7) 
Etriployrnent Agrecnwnt between thc licgistrant md ' M d  Gibby, dated May 11, 2005(7) 

Director Cornpendon Policy (0) 

Ol'fice lease between the Registrant and 11399 1, Street 1,1,C, dated November 22 ,  1999, a5 arnended(1) 

F~t th  Amendment to I ~ a s e  Agreement between the Registrant and 1899 I ,  Street Tower, dated August 31, 
2005 $ 

Lease Commnencemcnl Agreement bctween the Kcgistrant and 1899 L Slrcet Tower LLC, dated 
August 3 1 , 30054 

Sixth An~enclrnent to Idease Agreemerit between the Registrant and 1899 I. Street Tower, dated Januxy 37, 
7_006$ 

Third Amended and Reshted RegisIration Righis Agreement, between the Regi5trant and ce~tain 
stockholders of the Regi\trmt dated as of April 6, 2001(1) 

licgistlat~on Rights i\pcerncrit, between the Rcgtstrant and 'l'he George Washington Urilversity, dated 
January 1 1, 3001(3) 

Foim of Incentive Stock Option Agreement(5) 

Form of NonsratuLory Stock Option Agreernent(5) 

Forin of Kestricrzcl Stock Agrccrncnt(5) 

Form of Executive Inccnlibe Stock Option Agrecmnt(6) 

Form of Executive Nonstariitory Stock Option Agreement (6) 

Comrmtnrent Lette~, dared October 12, 3005, b j  and between the Registrant ant1 Credit Suisse, Cayman 
lslands Branch(9) 
Summary of Approved 2005 and 2006 Compensation .: 
Sulwd~ar~es  of the Companq 4 
Consent of' Ernst & Young 1.LP t 
Celtification Purwant lo Section 302 of the Sarb:tncs-Oxley Act of 2003$ 

Certification Puisuailt to Section 302 of the Sarbanel-Oxley Act of 7-003 

Sectton 906 Prirlc~pnl Executive Officer Certification 7 
Section 906 Principal Financial Otficcr Ccrtilicatlon i 

Filed herewith. 

Furnished herewith. 

I~reviously I'ilcd on M m h  5, 2004 as an exhibit to the ticgistrant's RegistrAon Sia~zmerit on Form S-1 
(File No. 333- 1 13332). and incorporated by reicrcnce hcrcin. 

Previo~~sly filed on Apt 11 7, 2004 as an exh~bit to Amendment So. I to the Registrant's Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 (File So.  333-1 13332). and incoryornted by reference herem. 



(3) Previously liled on May 3, 2004 as an exhibit to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant's Kcgistration 
Slatemcnt on Form S-l ( h l c  No. 333- 1 1.3332), and incorporated by rcl'erence hcrcin. 

(4) Pieviously filed on August 8, 1004 as an exhibit to the Registrant'\ Keport on F o ~ m  10-Q, and incorpo- 
rated by rderence herein. 

( 5 )  Previously filed on Ucccrnber 3, 7004 as an exhibit to the Kcgistrant's Report on F o m  8-K, and irruor- 
poratcd by reference herein. 

( 6 )  Previously filed on March 1 .  2005 as an exhibit to the Registrant's Report on  Form 10-K, and incorpo- 
rated by relcrcnce hcrein. 

(7) Previously filed on May 13, 2005 as an exhibit to thc Registranl's Repoll o n  Fonn 10-Q. and incorpo- 
rsed by refemwe herein. 

(8) P r e ~  iously filed on May 25, 2005 as an exhibit to the Regisrrant's Report on Fonn 8-K, and inco~pnrded 
by refcrencc herein 

(9) Previously filed on October 12, 1005 as an exhibit to the Kcgistrant's Keport on F k m  8-K, and incorpo- 
latcd by reference herein. 

(10) Previously filed on November 18, 2005 as an exhib~t to the Registrant's Repoli on Form 8-K,  and incnr- 
poratecl by refel-cncc hcrein. 



EXHIBIT 31.1 

Cerlification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

1, Michael I,. Chasen, certify that: 

1 .  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Blackboard Inc.; 

2. Bared o n  my knowledge, th15 report does not coritain an) untrue ,tatemen[ of a material fact or omrt 
to state a rnaterial fact necessary to make the statement!, made, in  light of the circumstances under wh~ch such 
slaterncrits were 1~1;i~ie. not ~rlislcading with respect to the pcriod covered by this ~cport;  

3. B a d  on ~ n y  !aowlcdgc, the financial statiments, and other financial inh~niation included in this 
report, fairly present In all material respects thc Imanci;rl cont l~t~oi~,  results of opcialwns and cash flows ol the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presentcd in this ~eport;  

4. ']'he registrant's other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and proceriures {as detlned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-13e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal 
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(f) and 15(d)-15(fj for the 
rzgistrw~t ant1 have: 

a) Designed such disclosure contrc>ls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls aild 
procedures to be dcsigned ~ ~ n d e r  our supervision, to  ensure thal material information relating to the 
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which {:his report is being prepared; 

1)) Designed such internal contrc3l over I'inaaclal reporlinp, or causeti such inte~nal control over 
financial reporting to he designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable awrrance regarding the 
relrability of C~na~~cial reporting arid the prcpu-ation of  tinancia1 state~rwnts Sor exrernal purposes in 
accordance with gcncrally accepted accounting principles: 

c) Evaluated the effcctivencss of the registranl"6 disclosure controls and proccdurcs and przscntcd in 
this report our conclu.sions about the effectixness of the disclosure control\ and proceduses, a\ of the end 
of the period covered by this report b a d  on such evaluation: ant1 

d) Disclosed in this repolt any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred dur~ng the registrant's most recent t iwd quarter (the registlant's fourth fiscal quarter in  the caw 
of an annual report) that ha\ matciially allccled, or 1s reasonably l~kely to rnatc~ially aftecl, the 
regirtrant's ~ntcrnal control over P~nancial reportmg; and 

5 The registrant's other cerlifying officcr and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
~nternal control o ~ c r  financinl reporhng, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the reg~strant's 
board oi directors (or persons perfo~n~ing the eq~~ivaler~t function\): 

a) All significant dellciencie\ and material weaknesses i n  the desipn or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasoiiably likely to adversely affect the regirtrant's ability to recold, 
pwcess, su in~nar i~e  and report fin;incial information: and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not ~~iaterial, that involvcs rnanagcment or othcr c~r~ployecs who have a 
significanl role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporring. 

1st Michacl L. Cf~itscn 

Michacl L. Chascn 
Chief f'xecuth? 0 f'cer 

Dated: February 15, 2006 



EXHIBIT 31.2 

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

1, Pckr Q. Repetti, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rlackl~onrd Inc.; 

3. Based on my knowledge, t h ~ \  report does not conta~n any untrue statement o f  a material fact or omit 
to state a rnaterial fact necessary to make the s~aternents made, in light of the circumstances urider which such 
estaternents were macle. not ~nisleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based or1 my knowledge, the financial rtatemcnts, ancl other financial inl'ol~~iation inchded in this 
report, fairly present in all niaterial respects thC financial condition, reesults of operations and cash flow> 01 lht: 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this rep or^; 

4. 'l'he registrant's olhcr certifying officcr and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as dcfined in Exchange Act Rule\ 1 33- 15(e) and 1% 1 % ~ ) )  and internal 
control over tinancial reporting (as defined i n  Exchange Act Rules IXa)-15(fl arid l5(d)-15(0 for the 
regisrrant and h a v e  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceclures, or caused such clisclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under oiu. supervision, to ensure thal material inhrmation relaling to the 
registranl, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is tnade known to us hy others within thosc entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Deslgned such internal control over f~nancial reporting. or caused such internal control over 
f i~ iw~c~a l  reportmg to be destgned under our wpervis~on, to prov~de reasonable acsurance regardrng the 
rehahil~ty of flnaric~al iepolling and the pieparation of finnnclal stmlnentb 101 exterr~al purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnc~ples, 

C) Evaluated the cffcctlveness of the registranl's disclosure controls and proccdurcs and presented in 
this report our conclusions about  he effectiveness of the disclosure control\ and procedurcs, ah of the cnd 
of the period covered by {his report based on such evaluation: and 

d) Dlsclmed it1 this report any change in the registrant's inlernd cont~ol over financial reporting that 
occurred during Lhe registrant'? most recent fiqcal ql~arter (the regist~arit's fourth fiscal quarter i n  the caw 
of an annual report) that ha\ materially afkctcd, or is reasonably l~kcly to nlate~ially afkct, the 
registranl's in tend control over financial rcportltlg; and 

5 The registrant's other ccrtiljing ot'f~ccr and 1 have disclosed, based on our mo\t reccnt evaluation ot 
internal control over financial reporllng, to the registrant'\ auditors and the audit cornrnitrcc of the reg~rtranr's 
board of directors (or pel sons perfo~nllng the equivalent function\). 

a) All significant deiiciencie\ and tnaterial weaknesm in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which drz reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's abrlity to record, 
process, ~ u m i n a r i ~ e  ancl report financial informallon; and 

b) Any iiaud, whether ur 1101 nlaterial, that involves mallilgciTlcnt or other cmployecs who have a 
significant role in the I-cgistrant's inlernal control oker financial reporting. 

Is/ Peter Q. Kcpetti 

Pcler Q. Repetti 
Chrf Fiuuric-wl OIIU-L'Y 

Dilled: February 15, 2006 



EXHIBIT 32.1 

Section 906 I?rincipal Executive Officer Certification 

1, Michael L. Chascri, Chief Executive Officer of Blackboard Inc. ("the Cornpany"). do Imcby ccltify. 
under the standards sct forth in and solely for thc purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 13.50. a:, adopted pursuanl to 
Section 906 ot the Sarbanrs-Oxlry Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: 

1 .  The Annual. Report on Form 1 0 - K  of the Cornpany For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 
(the "Annual Keport"1 fully cornplies wiih the reyuirernenls of Section 13(a) or 15(d1 ol' thr: Securities 
Exchange Act of  1934 (15 1;.S.C1 78m or  78o(dr) and 

2. The information contained in tlr: Annual lieport fairly presents, in  all material respects, the 
t'inancial condition arid results of operatiol~s of the Company. 

I S /  Michael I.. Chasen 
" .... """ ... ....... " " " " " .... " ..... 

Michael L. Chasen 
Qiief Executive Ojj'icer 

Dated: February 15, 2006 



EXHIBIT 32.2 

Section 906 Principal Financial Of'ficcr Certification 

1, Pcter Q. Kepetti, Chlef E'inan~inl Off~cel of Blackboard lnc. ("the Company"). do liercby certlly, under 
the standard\ set hrth In and solcly f o ~  the purposes of 18 [J.S.C. Sectlon 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Sectlo11 906 of the Sarbanev-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge. 

1 .  The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended Deceniber 3 1 ,  2004 
(the "Annual Kcport") I'ully cornplies wih  the requirerrlenls of Section 13(a) or 1S(d) oT thc Securilics 
bxchange Act of' 1934 (IS 1: S C'. 78n1 or 78o(d)) and 

2. 'The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all matelial respects, the 
financial condition and results of operations of the Conlpany. 

1st Peter Q. Reperti -" " " " " ..,.... 

Peter Q. liepetti 
Chief I 'B~rincial Officer 

Dated: February IS,  2006 
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